Working Memory-Related Prefrontal Activity Measured with Magnetoencephalography: Abnormalities in Schizophrenia and Relationship to Dopamine

Daniel Yehonatan Rubinstein B.A., Cornell University, 2009

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Neuroscience, Brown University

Providence, RI April, 2017 © Copyright 2017 by Daniel Rubinstein

This dissertation by Daniel Y. Rubinstein is accepted in its present form by the Division of Biology and Medicine as satisfying the dissertation requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Date	
	Karen F. Berman, M.D., Advisor
	Section on Integrative Neuroimaging
	Clinical & Translational Neuroscience Branch
	National Institute of Mental Health
	National Institutes of Health
]	Recommended to the Graduate Council
Date	
	Richard Coppola, D.Sc., Reader
	Magnetoencephalography (MEG) Core Facility
	National Institute of Mental Health
	National Institutes of Health
Date	
	David L. Sheinberg, Ph.D., Reader
	Department of Neuroscience
	Brown University
Date	
	Barry Horwitz, Ph.D., Reader
	Section on Brain Imaging and Modeling
	National Institute on Deafness and Other
	Communication Disorders
	National Institutes of Health
	Approved by the Graduate Council
Date	
	Andrew G. Campbell, Ph.D.
	Dean of the Graduate School
	Brown University

Curriculum Vitae

Dani Rubinstein, Ph.D. Candidate Department of Neuroscience, Brown University / National Institute of Mental Health, NIH rubinsteind@mail.nih.gov

Education	
2011 – present	-Brown University / NIH Graduate Partnership Program -Department of Neuroscience, Brown University, Providence, RI -Section on Integrative Neuroimaging, Clinical and Translational Neuroscience Branch National Institute of Mental Health, NIH, Bethesda, MD -Ph.D. Candidate
2005 - 2009	-Cornell University, Ithaca, NY B.A.; Major: Mathematics (Mathematical Biology); Concentration: Cognitive Science

Research Experience

• NIMH/Brown University Ph.D. Student (June 2011 – present)

-Current Ph.D. student with Dr. Karen Berman working on multimodal imaging projects combining magnetoencephalography (MEG), positron emission tomography (PET), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), to investigate the neurobiological underpinnings of cognition and cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia.

-Developed and executed research projects examining dopaminergic modulation of working memory activity and abnormal working memory-related oscillations in schizophrenia; drafted related manuscripts and posters

-Ran PET, MRI, and MEG studies with healthy volunteers and schizophrenia patients

-Helped to maintain processing pipelines for neuroimaging analyses in multiple modalities (PET, MRI, MEG) and maintain large imaging databases

-Received basic clinical research training and helped to lead conversation groups with schizophrenia patients

• Post-Baccalaureate Intramural Research Trainee in MEG Core Facility at NIH (June 2009 – June 2011)

-Ran MEG studies with healthy volunteers, schizophrenia patients, and their siblings, and helped manage lab

-Developed analysis scripts and pipelines for MEG data

-Helped draft publications, prepared and presented posters for conferences

-Mentored user groups on MEG theory, data acquisition, analyses, and publications

• Undergraduate Research Assistant in Cognitive Neuroscience Lab, Cornell University (Spring 2007, Fall 2008, Spring 2009)

-Ran behavioral studies on visual implicit statistical learning -Helped manage lab, with volunteer scheduling and data entry

-Helped analyze resulting data and draft manuscripts

Publications and Posters

• **Rubinstein D**, Eisenberg D, et al. (in preparation). Spatio-temporal alterations in working memory-related neuromagnetic activity in patients with schizophrenia while on and off antipsychotic medication.

• Eisenberg D, Yankowitz L, Ianni A, **Rubinstein D**, et al. (in press). Presynaptic dopamine synthesis capacity in schizophrenia and striatal blood flow change during antipsychotic treatment and medication-free conditions. *Neuropsychopharmacology*.

• Emberson, L & **Rubinstein**, **D** (2016). Statistical learning is constrained to less abstract patterns in complex sensory input (but not the Least). *Cognition*, 153:63-78.

• **Rubinstein D**, Eisenberg D, et al. (2015, March). *Time-specific alterations in working memory-related beta band activity in patients with schizophrenia studied with MEG while on and off antipsychotic medication*. Poster presented at the International Congress on Schizophrenia Research, Colorado Springs, CO.

• **Rubinstein D**, Eisenberg D, et al. (2015, May). *Abnormal Working Memory-Related Hippocampal Theta Synchronization Demonstrated with Magnetoencephalography in Schizophrenia*. Poster presented at the Society of Biological Psychiatry, Toronto, Canada.

• **Rubinstein D**, Eisenberg D, et al. (2013, December). *Reduced Prefrontal Gamma Band Power in Patients with Schizophrenia Studied with MEG during Working Memory*. Poster presented at the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, Hollywood, FL.

• **Rubinstein D**, Eisenberg D, et al. (2013, May). *Multimodal Evidence for a Relationship between Oddball and Working Memory Processing in Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex*. Poster presented at the Society of Biological Psychiatry, San Francisco, CA.

• Jabbi M, Nash T, Kohn P, Ianni A, **Rubinstein D**, et al. (2013). Midbrain presynaptic dopamine tone predicts sustained and transient neural response to emotional salience in humans: fMRI, MEG and FDOPA PET. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18(1):4-6.

• **Rubinstein D**, Carver F, et al. (2011, November). *Differences of resting-state MEG gamma power in patients with schizophrenia on and off medication*. Poster presented at the Annual Society for Neuroscience, Washington, D.C.

• Weiss S, Bassett D, **Rubinstein D**, et al. (2011). Functional brain network characterization and adaptivity during task practice in healthy volunteers and people with schizophrenia. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 5:81.

• **Rubinstein D**, Carver F, et al. (2011, June). *Measuring whole brain resting-state correlations in high gamma frequency band with MEG*. Poster presented at the Annual Meeting of the Organization for Human Brain Mapping, Quebec City, Canada.

• **Rubinstein D**, Carver F, et al. (2010, November). *MRS measured GABA concentration correlates with spatially localized resting MEG beta band power*. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience, San Diego, CA.

• **Rubinstein D**, Carver F, et al. (2010, June). *MEG study of differential high frequency gamma activity in schizophrenia during an oddball task*. Poster presented at the Annual Meeting of the Organization for Human Brain Mapping, Barcelona, Spain.

Additional Skills

Proficient in AFNI, UNIX, MATLAB, Python, R. Knowledge of SQL, Java.

Relevant Coursework

Computational Neuroscience • Machine Learning • Basic Human Neuroanatomy • Neural Computation • Dynamic Models in Biology • Cognitive Psychology • Principles of Neurophysiology

Honors/Awards

Dean's List 4 semesters • 2nd place, Cornell Mathematical Modeling Competition • Commended Scholar, National Merit Scholarship Program • Degrees of Honor and Merit, National Forensics League • National French Honor Society • Publication of Geometry Proof ("Median Proof" (2003). *Mathematics Teacher*, *96*:401)

Preface

The motivation for this project arises from the severe cognitive impairments suffered by individuals with schizophrenia, which often prevent them from functioning in society and living as fulfilling a life as they would hope for. Much evidence has been accumulated to implicate various dysfunctional neural systems, particularly in terms of brain regional activation during cognitive tasks such as working memory. However, the electrophysiological underpinnings of this dysfunctional activation, and its relationship to other neurophysiological dimensions implicated in schizophrenia, has not yet been fully defined, and thus serves as the focus of my thesis.

In my introduction I discuss the dorsolateral prefrontal cortical (DLPFC) activity underlying working memory-related (dys)functions in health and schizophrenia, and in turn, receptor-specific aspects of dopaminergic signaling that modulate this working memory-related DLPFC activity. I also provide background on magnetoencephalography (MEG), a more specialized neuroimaging modality that nevertheless offers unique potential for revealing and understanding human brain function in health and disease states.

In Chapter 2 I describe my work characterizing working memory-related prefrontal activity using MEG in a large sample of healthy individuals. I found that in the pre-response period of the working memory (WM) task, the DLPFC exhibited an extremely robust event-related desynchronization (ERD) of beta band activity. Based on the results discussed in Chapter 2, I then hypothesized that patients with schizophrenia would show altered DLPFC beta band ERD. As I discuss in Chapter 3, indeed beta desynchronization was reduced in patients: utilizing a unique medication withdrawal study to control for, and examine the antidopaminergic effects of antipsychotics, I found that patients, while off antipsychotic medication, exhibited significantly reduced DLPFC beta band ERD. In the same study I showed that while on antipsychotic medication, these patients experienced a time-specific "normalization" of beta band ERD, a result that I discuss further in my conclusions (Chapter 5).

In Chapter 4 I present my work using both PET and genetic variation in the dopamine D_1 receptor gene *DRD1* to parse the contributions of dopamine D_1 and D_2 receptor function to DLPFC activity, in healthy volunteers. Both PET and genetic analyses revealed associations between beta band ERD and D_1 receptor function, converging on the importance of the D_1 receptor in healthy WM function.

In Chapter 5 I summarize my findings and how they advance the current understanding of WM-related DLPFC activity in health and in schizophrenia, particularly regarding its relationship to the dopamine system. I also discuss preliminary results relating to future directions, for example, that medicationrelated "normalization" of beta band ERD in patients was strongly correlated with dopamine D₂ receptor availability in the striatum. Additional patient-specific results will help clarify possible abnormalities in dopaminergic regulation of WM function, and how these abnormalities may contribute to the observed clinical phenotype. Ultimately, this work will lead to a greater understanding of the underlying neurophysiology of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia, and how to better treat them.

Acknowledgements

First and most importantly, I would like to thank the Clinical Center patients of the NIMH for this work. In the lab we study mental disorders, but for the patients it is their life, inescapably. They willingly donate their time, energy, and often personal comfort, to our research, so that we can learn about the causes and treatments of schizophrenia. They do this knowing full well that whatever treatments may come of this research will probably not come fast enough to benefit them individually. Nevertheless, they trust the importance of this research and the impact it will have for future patients like themselves – that immense trust must be acknowledged first. In the same vein, I'd also like to thank the nursing staff at the NIH who care for the patients and provide a stable, safe, positive environment for them to enjoy while participating in our research, and allow this work to exist, as well as the recruitment team, who maintains contact with countless individuals and families, and successfully conveys the importance of our research. Thanks also goes to the various NMR and PET department staff for being so helpful with data collection, and to general staff at the NIH Clinical Center as well, who make the research unit and the whole surrounding environment welcoming for patients and their families.

While not technically part of my graduate work, I wish to thank Richard Coppola and the rest of the NIH MEG Core Facility for providing such a stimulating preamble to my thesis work, in which I first learned about neuroimaging and schizophrenia. Thank you to Judy Mitchell for the technical training in MEG acquisition, and for being a warm and welcoming friend when I first began. Thank you to Steve Kornweiss, Tyler Ard, and Tom Holroyd for the stimulating conversations about almost literally everything, and all the invaluable coding help. Thank you as well to Frederick Carver for the same, and for additionally being so generous with advice, general thesis-related help, emotional support, unsolicitedbut-nevertheless-very-welcome trivial knowledge, and just helping to keep a healthy perspective on life.

Thanks goes also to my fellow neuroscience graduate students at Brown and NIH, Catherine Hegarty, Rahilla Tarfa, and Nick Edwards, for the mutual support and friendship throughout. Thanks as well to the NIH/Brown Graduate Partnership Program (GPP) and Intramural Research Program who made this graduate work possible. Specifically thank you to the GPP directors at NIH – Chris McBain and Katherine Roche – and at the Department of Neuroscience at Brown University – Anne Hart and Gilad Barnea – for their support and valuable guidance, as well as for providing an extremely thorough and supportive first year of neuroscience coursework, along with Diane Lipscombe, Jerome Sanes, and David Sheinberg.

I'd also like to acknowledge the OITE at NIH, especially Phil Wang, Phil Ryan, and Janet Clark, for their kind support and successful efforts to make the NIH a friendly and nurturing learning environment for students. I'd like to more specifically thank the many members of the Clinical & Translational Neuroscience Branch and the Section on Integrative Neuroimaging, my thesis mentor Karen Berman, Shane Kippenhan, Jasmin Czarapata, Philip Kohn, Angela Ianni, and many

xi

others, who have become like a second family during the last six years. In particular, thank you to Grace Wei for being a super friend and colleague, and to the many IRTAs who have come and gone, who bring new productive energy. Thanks as well to Daniel Eisenberg for all the extremely generous scientific guidance and assistance with writing, throughout the thesis process. Thank you to my thesis committee at Brown and NIH, David Sheinberg, Richard Coppola, as well as Barry Horwitz, and especially Karen Berman for continued mentorship, extremely and unhesitatingly devoted guidance on scientific directions, writing, presentations, and general support with all aspects of life as a graduate student.

Thank you once again to Catherine Hegarty for being my officemate, colleague, thesis partner, and friend, and making this grueling but rewarding experience more enjoyable and productive. Finally, thank you to my sisters Yael and Tamar, and my parents Yaffa and Larry, for their continued, generous love, support, and nourishment, both emotional and gastronomical, making sure that I always had enough to eat.

And thank you, dear reader, for sharing in the life of this thesis.

xii

Table of Contents

CHAPTE	R 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Schizophrenia	1
1.2	Magnetoencephalography	4
1.2.1	Background and history	4
1.2.2	Neural oscillations	5
1.3	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and working memory	8
1.3.1	Early lesion studies	8
1.3.2	Delayed response activity in non-human primates	9
1.3.3	Human neuroimaging studies	10
1.3.4	Human electrophysiological characterizations of WM-related	prefrontal
activi		12
1.4	Working memory and prefrontal dysfunction in schizophrenia	16
1.4.1	Behavioral findings	16
1.4.2	Prefrontal structural findings	18
1.4.3	Prefrontal functional findings	20
1.5	Dopamine and schizophrenia	
1.5.1	The dopamine system	24
1.5.2	The discovery of antipsychotics and the dopamine hypothesis	26
1.5.3	Effect of antipsychotic medications on WM activity	
1.6	Mechanisms of dopaminergic modulation of dorsolateral p	prefrontal
cortical	I activity via D_1 and D_2 receptors	
1.6.1	Non-human primate and in vitro studies	
1.6.2	Human studies	······34
	Lost in the hoise: an integrated model of dopanimergic modulat	ion of the
DLPF		40
CHAPTE	R 2 SPATIOTEMPORAL CHARACTERIZATION OF WORK	ING
MEMORY	Y ACTIVITY IN HEALTHY INDIVIDUALS	43
2.1	Introduction	
2.2	Methods	46
2.2.1	Subjects	46
2.2.2	Data acquisition	46
2.2.3	Data preprocessing	48
2.2.4	Data analysis	48
2. 3]	Results	51
2.3.1	Behavioral performance	51
2.3.2	Frequency-specific power modulations	51
2.4	Discussion	······ 54
CHAPTE	R 3 SPATIOTEMPORAL ALTERATIONS OF WORKING MI	EMORY-
A NITIDOV	CHATIC MEDICATIONS	-6
ANTIFOI	CHUIC MEDICATIONS	<u>5</u> 0
3.1	IIIII ouuciioii	
3.2	Subjects	
3.2.1	Subjects	59

3.2.2	Data processing and analysis	61
3.3	Results	63
3.4	Discussion	69
CHAPTE	ER 4 EFFECTS OF D_1 RECEPTOR FUNCTION ON WORKING	
MEMOR	AY-RELATED PREFRONTAL ACTIVITY IN HUMANS	75
4.1	Introduction	75
4.2	Methods	78
4.2.1	Subjects	78
4.2.2	PET data processing and correlation with MEG	78
4.2.3	DRD1 rs4532 genotyping	79
4.2.4	ROI analysis	80
4.3	Results	81
4.3.1	MEG beta band desynchronization	81
4.3.2	Correlations between MEG and dopamine receptor binding	82
4.3.3	Effect of rs4532 genotype	83
4.4	Discussion	86
СНАРТЕ	ER 5 CONCLUSIONS	90

List of Tables

Chapt	<u>ter 2:</u>	
2.1	Results of WM-related beta band modulation in controls during 500ms	
windc	ow around correct responses	51
<u>Chapt</u>	<u>er 3:</u>	
3.1	Demographics of controls and patients)1
3.2	Differences in beta band activity in patients compared to controls	5
<u>Chapt</u>	<u>ter 4:</u>	
4.1	Demographic information by rs4532 genotype	\$4

List of Figures

Chapt	<u>ter 2:</u>
2.1	N-back task design
2.2	WM-related power modulation in 500ms around correct responses
2.3	WM-related power modulation in 400ms sliding windows 53
<u>Chapt</u>	<u>ter 3:</u>
3.1	Behavioral performance variables for controls and patients while on and off
medic	cation
3.2	WM-related power modulation in 400ms sliding windows for controls and
patier	nts (off medication)
3.3	Time courses of prefrontal desynchronization in controls and patients 67
3.4	Left and right prefrontal desynchronization in controls and patients 68

<u>Chapter 4:</u>

41	DLPEC definition	80
4•1		00
4.2	Pre-response beta band activation in MEG/PET control group	81
4.3	Time courses of beta desynchronization in right and left DLPFC for	
MEG/I	PET control group	. 81
4.4	Correlation of right DLPFC beta desynchronization with D1 receptor	
availat	pility	83
4.5	DLPFC desynchronization by <i>DRD1</i> SNP rs4532 genotype	85

<u>Chapter 5:</u>

5.1	Correlation between striatal D2 receptor availability and "normalization" of
left D	LPFC beta band desynchronization
5.2	Enhanced gamma band activation of right prefrontal cortex in unmedicated
patien	its compared to controls

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia, or perhaps more accurately schizophrenias (Bleuler, 1911), is a family of highly debilitating mental disorders that affect up to 1% of the population worldwide, disabling in its sufferers the highly complex cognitive and social behaviors necessary to function in society (Schultz & Andreasen, 1999). Impaired cognitive functions vary widely, from working memory (WM) and goal execution, to attention and processing speed (Fatouros-Bergman et al., 2014; Andreasen & Carpenter, 1993). Diminished social functions include social withdrawal, avolition, and other 'negative' symptoms. Frustratingly, current pharmacological treatments primarily target the 'positive' symptoms such as hallucinations and delusions but not the cognitive and negative symptoms. The task, therefore, for researchers of this devastating disorder is to identify the neurophysiological substrates of these cognitive and negative symptoms, which can then be used as targets for new treatments.

Much work has been done to uncover these substrates, with etiological hypotheses ranging across nearly all neural systems and dimensions (Fallon et al., 2003), as well as subcellular genetic networks and environmental milieus both internal and external (Howes et al., 2017). At the neural circuits level, the

dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) sits at a central locus in these hypotheses, as the brain region most involved in planning and executing complex behaviors. Some of the many neural circuits involving the DLPFC implicated in schizophrenia include the thalamo-prefrontal circuit connecting the mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus to the DLPFC (Marenco et al., 2012; Anticevic et al., 2013), the hippocampal-prefrontal circuit (Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2005; Godsil et al., 2013), and the cortico-cerebellar-thalamo-cortical circuit (Andreasen, 2014). At a more microscopic level, another well-established hypothesis is based on a single cell type: the fast-spiking parvalbumin-positive interneuron (Lewis et al., 2005; Nakazawa et al., 2012). These cells are fundamental in the generation of gamma oscillations (Cardin et al., 2009; Carlén et al., 2012), and underlie other etiological hypotheses of schizophrenia based on aberrant gamma activity (Uhlhaas & Singer, 2010; Lewis et al., 2012). The fast-spiking interneuron hypothesis dovetails with the GABA hypothesis, based on the well-replicated finding of reduced GABA expression in patients (Akbarian & Huang, 2006). However, other neurotransmitter theories abound, including a serotonin hypothesis (Eggers, 2013), the glutamate hypothesis (Moghaddam & Javitt, 2012), and most importantly the dopamine hypothesis (Howes & Kapur, 2009), discussed in section 1.5.1, which also closely relates to hypotheses at other levels of analysis such as the fronto-striato-thalamic circuit (Robbins, 1990; Dandash et al., 2016) and the DLPFC in general (Weinberger et al., 2001).

Mirroring this etiological complexity is the clinical complexity of highly variable presentation of schizophrenia. While the diagnostic definition according to the DSM-V (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) consists of symptoms such as hallucinations, delusions, disorganization, and social dysfunction, many patients may only show subsets of these, and between any given two individuals with schizophrenia there may be only few, core overlapping symptoms.

The immense scientific challenge to unravel the connections between some of the mental domains implicated in schizophrenia serves as the motivation for my project, which focuses on one of the most impaired cognitive domains, working memory (Fatouros-Bergman et al., 2014), and attempts to clarify its physiological underpinnings, specifically as they relate to prefrontal and dopaminergic function.

WM impairment is among the more devastating deficits in schizophrenia, hindering goal maintenance and short-term memory, and has even been proposed to lead to entirely other symptoms (Goldman-Rakic, 1994). It is long known that prefrontal damage can lead to schizophrenia-like behavioral disorders (Freeman & Watts, 1939), and that working memory relies on intact prefrontal circuitry (see section 1.3). How is the network activity of the prefrontal cortex disrupted in patients? Much evidence points to abnormal neural oscillatory activity, as described in section 1.4.3, and which I measure with magnetoencephalography (MEG), discussed below.

1.2 Magnetoencephalography

1.2.1 Background and history

MEG is unique among neuroimaging techniques in its ability to both measure electrophysiological activity at sub-millisecond timescales (like electroencephalography [EEG]), and localize cortical neural activity with nearmillimeter resolution (like functional magnetic resonance imaging [fMRI]). A short overview of the technique is provided due to the relative rarity of its use, compared to more well-known modalities such as fMRI and EEG.

MEG began with David Cohen (1968), who like Hans Berger (1929), the first to record EEG activity, measured alpha waves from occipital cortex during eyes closed resting state. Similar to EEG, MEG measures changes in electrical activity of the brain, which manifest as changes in the magnetic field outside the head, which MEG sensors detect. More specifically, magnetic dipoles are generated by intracellular dendritic currents associated with excitatory post-synaptic potentials (EPSPs), which summate to produce a measurable signal if aligned in parallel in great enough number (~100,000 cells) (Hämäläinen et al., 1993). While EPSPs are believed to dominate the MEG signal, some simulation studies have suggested that under certain circumstances, highly synchronous action potentials may also be measurable (Murakami & Okada, 2006). Unlike EEG, which is more sensitive to currents projecting along the radial axis from the center of the head out, MEG is more sensitive to the tangential (parallel to the brain surface) component of currents, due the perpendicular orientation of the magnetic field to its underlying direction of current flow. Importantly, the changes in magnetic field measured by MEG are not distorted by the skull and scalp, in contrast to the changes in electrical activity measured by EEG, thus allowing for more accurate localization of neural source activity.

This enhanced spatial acuity is what differentiates MEG most from EEG, and manifests in the different analysis techniques used in the two modalities. Whereas the evoked potential, calculated from the average signal of specific sensors across many trials, is the preferred method of analysis in EEG, localization methods such as dipole fitting and beamformers are more popular with MEG. In this thesis, I use a localization technique based on the linearly constrained multivariate beamformer (Vrba & Robinson, 2001), which independently localizes frequency-specific activity via adaptive spatial filters for specified points in the brain. These filters are calculated to maximize signal from a given point, while suppressing signals from all others, thus localizing activity and removing artifacts. Methods like this one have been shown to achieve localization accuracy of ~5mm (Sekihara et al., 2005), and may thus enable a more spatially-precise indexing of WM-related prefrontal function compared to EEG (and more temporally-precise than fMRI), which can then be probed in patients.

1.2.2 Neural oscillations

Both EEG and MEG measure neural activity at the millisecond time scale, allowing for better characterization of precise event-related activity, or oscillatory activity throughout a cognitive task, compared to fMRI. Event-related

5

potentials/fields (ERPs/ERFs) are calculated by averaging the signals across the entire frequency spectrum from many trials. In contrast, oscillations are analyzed by filtering the neural signal into its different frequency components. Oscillations at different frequencies throughout a wide spectrum from 1Hz to >200Hz have long been shown to relate to various aspects of cognition, including perception (Gray et al., 1989), working memory (von Stein & Sarnthein, 2000), and selective attention (Fries et al., 2001). More specifically, different oscillations reflect different organized patterns of activity within and between specific brain regions, cortical layers, or specific neuron types, and have thus been associated with specific cognitive functions (Uhlhaas & Singer, 2010). For example: theta band (~6Hz) activity is the dominant oscillatory rhythm of the hippocampus, and has been associated with memory function (Buzsáki, 2002); alpha (~10Hz) activity is associated with thalamocortical connections and often reflects attentional gating (Lopes da Silva et al., 1973; Feige et al., 2005); beta band (~20Hz) oscillations are still less understood but partly rely on the synchronous input to supragranular and infragranular layers (Sherman et al., 2016) and seem to be involved in cortical inhibition and often in motor control (Jensen et al., 2005); gamma (~40Hz) oscillations can be generated by the rhythmic interplay of inhibitory interneurons and pyramidal cells generally underlying sensory perception (Cardin et al., 2009). Although these frequency bands are not restricted to those particular systems, oscillations can thus provide additional inferred functional information, besides simply being measures of activation (Siegel et al., 2012). In summary, neural oscillations reflect distinct modes of activity in neural circuits and are thus indispensable for a complete explanation of how neural phenomena give rise to behaviors such as working memory, and its dysfunctions (Lopes da Silva, 2013).

1.3 Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and working memory

Baddeley & Hitch (1974) helped to develop the concept of working memory, which is based mainly on the function of immediate, or short-term memory (STM). Both short-term and working memory refer not just to the maintenance of information during a delay period, but also the more complex system underlying the manipulation and use of this information for subsequent action (Baddeley & Hitch, 1974). While working memory is associated with cortical and sub-cortical networks (including parietal cortex and striatum [Jonides et al., 1993; Baier et al., 2010 Darki & Klingberg, 2015]), this section briefly discusses the dependence on one particular cerebral region – the prefrontal cortex, which is an especially important node in WM networks.

1.3.1 Early lesion studies

The association of WM function to the prefrontal cortex was not established until after similar cognitive functions had already begun to be ascribed to this brain region in the early 20th century (Bianchi, 1922; Ackerly, 1935; Jacobsen 1936), along with the recognition that even non-motor related behaviors could be partially localized to specific cerebral regions (Ferrier, 1873). Perhaps the most famous individual case of psychiatry – the case of Phineas Gage (Harlow, 1868) – also promoted interest in the frontal lobe and its possible relationship to schizophrenia (Mesulam, 1986). Jacobsen (1936) however was first to show that monkeys with bilateral prefrontal lesions were severely impaired specifically in delayed-response tasks, which probed short-term, or "immediate memory". In humans the affected function was predictably more complex: a relatively large sample of patients was assessed by Freeman & Watts (1939), who concluded that the role of the frontal lobe was to "assemble the available data, synthesize them, plan a course of action with the ideal in mind, and ... direct him toward his goal".

While such studies implicated the frontal lobe in a general manner as being important for working memory, the questions remained as to which specific part of the frontal cortex is most important for WM function and how do neurons in that region organize to execute this important function. These questions motivated the seminal work of Patricia Goldman-Rakic and others (Arnsten, 2013).

1.3.2 Delayed response activity in non-human primates

Studies of non-human primates probed short-term memory using variations of delayed-response tasks, for example a delayed-alternation paradigm in which a monkey is baited to choose a food reward from one of two containers. The containers are then shielded from view for several seconds, and the monkey is prompted to choose the alternate container. Goldman & Rosvold (1970) utilized this paradigm, along with experimental lesions, to specifically implicate the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) as the crucial area for maintaining information over the delay period. The use of single-cell recordings within the awake behaving monkey revealed that DLPFC neurons continued firing during the delay, and helped further define how this region may maintain information (Fuster & Alexander, 1971).

Later studies employed the oculomotor delayed-response (ODR) task, which benefited from its control of the monkey's memory-guided movement until the appropriate time, ensuring a more purely mental encoding of information over the delay (Funahashi et al., 1989). In this paradigm, which would become the standard WM paradigm for monkeys, a cue was provided to saccade to a specific location, after which the monkey was trained to withhold eye movements for the duration of a delay period. A second cue then prompted the saccade to the appropriate target.

More recent studies in non-human primates have investigated oscillatory dynamics of prefrontal WM-related activity. For example, Lundqvist et al. (2016) recorded prefrontal local field potentials from monkeys performing both delayedresponse saccade task and delayed match-to-sample task (described in section 1.3.3) to demonstrate the existence and characteristics of beta and gamma band activity underlying WM function, providing validation for the human imaging studies discussed below.

While these studies confirmed the centrality of the DLPFC for WM maintenance, the advent of positron emission tomography (PET) and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) finally enabled non-invasive localization of WM function in humans (Jonides et al., 1993).

1.3.3 Human neuroimaging studies

In addition to Jonides (1993), who used a spatial WM task similar to the ODR task described above, other PET studies have utilized additional WM paradigms to show that these tasks elicit increased blood flow (which is closely related to neural activity [Attwell et al., 2010]) to the DLPFC, further establishing the importance of this particular area in humans as well as primates. Such paradigms include a verbal

WM task in which subjects are instructed to speak the numbers 1-10 in a random order with no repeats (Petrides et al., 1993), a visual n-back task where subjects continually respond "Yes" or "No" to whether a stimulus is the same as the one seen previously, either 1- or 2-back (Cohen et al., 1997), and an n-back task designed to be a more complete probe of *working* memory in which memory contents need to be continuously updated (Glabus et al., 2003). With the arrival of fMRI, researchers were now able to examine cerebral activity with greater resolution than with PET. Cohen et al. (1997) confirmed that WM-related DLPFC activity was sustained throughout the task, in agreement with the recordings from monkeys showing sustained firing throughout the maintenance period (Fuster, 1973). With the ability to examine neural activity in humans during cognitive tasks, the modulation of DLPFC activity with more nuanced variations in task difficult and complexity was now possible. For example in studies using two variations of the n-back task, the DLPFC was not only activated during these WM tasks, but its activity level also increased with memory load and correlated with performance (Cohen et al., 1997; Callicott et al., 1999). Additional research demonstrated that the DLPFC is further activated by additional manipulation demands of WM contents, and not solely to the maintenance of this information (D'Esposito et al., 2000).

While the above studies helped define the types of cognitive domains that the DLPFC is and is not involved in, as well as its connections with other regions in support of WM function, including the ventrolateral PFC and parietal cortex, as well as numerous subcortical regions (Gazzaley et al., 2004), none clarified the finergrained temporal characteristics of WM-related DLPFC neurophysiology. Specifically, it is known that neuronal networks can be characterized in part by their oscillations (Buzsáki, 2009). Is WM-related DLPFC network activity likewise concentrated in specific frequency bands? Electrophysiological studies offer answers to this question.

1.3.4 Human electrophysiological characterizations of WM-related prefrontal activity

Correlates of WM activity in frontal cortex have been reported in nearly all frequency ranges, from theta through gamma (Roux & Uhlhaas, 2014), even among more invasive studies that have used intracranial EEG (iEEG) to measure more directly from the prefrontal cortex. For example, Raghavachari et al. (2001) focus on the role of prefrontal theta band oscillations as a "gating" mechanism for multi-item working memory, due to its immediate and sustained increase in oscillatory power following stimulus presentation. Prefrontal alpha has also been associated with WM processing, being found to increase parametrically with greater WM loads (Leiberg et al., 2006; Pesonen et al., 2006). Other studies expanded on this finding, demonstrating that lateral frontal alpha power decreased during stimulus encoding, and then increased during maintenance (Bashivan et al., 2014), supporting the notion that alpha power suppression correlates with a region's receptiveness to external stimuli. However, a greater number of studies have implicated beta and gamma band activity in relation to WM-processing in the DLPFC.

1.3.4.1 Beta band

Event-related desynchronization (ERD) in beta band has long been observed in relation to motor activity (Stancák & Pfurtscheller 1995), but also during working memory in both delayed match-to-sample and n-back tasks (Pesonen et al., 2006; Brookes et al., 2011). Prefrontal beta band activity was also associated with specific stimulus properties (Spitzer et al., 2014), suggesting this type of activity may be more involved in specific representation of WM contents, rather than imposing a general readiness state on the cortex, like alpha activity. Furthermore, recent MEG work has utilized an adaptive beamformer technique to localize this beta band ERD more specifically to the DLPFC (Altamura et al., 2010; Heinrichs-Graham & Wilson, 2015). In both of those studies a delayed match-to-sample task was used to show beta ERD from encoding to execution. While the precise neural mechanisms underlying this rhythm are still being clarified, data and models suggest an association with cortical inhibition (Jensen et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2013) and a decrease in cortico-cortical or thalamo-cortical information transfer (Sherman et al., 2016). As discussed in section 1.6, the cellular evidence for cortical inhibition supporting WM is well established (Rao et al., 2000). Thus, beta band ERD may be interpreted as a release of this inhibitory mechanism, allowing increased information transfer and processing.

1.3.4.2 Gamma band

In contrast to the desynchronization observed in prefrontal beta band activity, many studies have focused on the relationship between working memory and increased gamma oscillations (for review see Jensen et al., 2007). This focus

draws in part from early studies demonstrating a close relationship between gamma band activity and selective attention as well as stimulus feature binding (Fries et al., 2001; Singer & Gray, 1995). For example, increased post-stimulus gamma (>30Hz) activity during a delayed match-to-sample memory condition was found, relative to a control condition, in prefrontal electrodes (Tallon-Baudry et al., 1998), supporting the idea that gamma activity may underlie WM maintenance of visual information. Using magnetoencephalography (MEG) to better localize oscillatory activity again during delayed match-to-sample tasks, recent studies show that prefrontal gamma activity is positively correlated with memory load during spatial working memory (Palva et al., 2011; Roux et al., 2012). More direct neural recordings using intracranial EEG with a delayed match-to-sample and letter-based WM task show similar results (Howard et al., 2003; Mainy et al., 2007). Specifically, prefrontal gamma increased during the stimulus-encoding period, and increased more with greater memory load, demonstrating significant modulation by working memory during memory retention as well. Interestingly, similar to beta band oscillations, WM-related gamma activity has also been associated with cortical inhibition. Evidence for this association comes not only from the association of interneurons with the generation of gamma oscillations (Cardin et al., 2009), but was also suggested by Barr et al. (2009) who used the inhibition-enhancing potential of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) to increase WM-related prefrontal gamma activity during an n-back task.

These electrophysiological studies complement fMRI/PET to further define the type of prefrontal network activity underlying working memory in terms of more direct electrophysiological correlates. This allows for more direct bridging to modeling (Sherman et al., 2016) and non-human primate studies (Lundqvist et al., 2016) where more direct neural recordings implicated beta and gamma bursting in WM-related prefrontal activity, and where neurostimulation and neurochemical interventions can be tested. In Chapter 2 I present my original work replicating many of these findings in a large sample of healthy controls.

1.4 Working memory and prefrontal dysfunction in schizophrenia

1.4.1 Behavioral findings

Cognitive impairments in schizophrenia have long been recognized and indeed, this key observation contributed to localizing WM function (at least in part) to the prefrontal cortex. While Smith (1969) was the first in modern times to confirm short-term memory difficulties in patients for both verbal and visual information, similar difficulties were noted in the work of Kraepelin (1919) who helped define the symptomatology of the disorder. Kraepelin described the impairment of "mental efficiency", noting that "patients are distracted, inattentive ... they cannot keep the thought in mind" (p. 23). Similar WM impairments are increasingly considered a core aspect of the disorder (Elvevåg & Goldberg, 2000): they begin early in childhood, long before clinically significant symptoms appear (van Oel et al., 2002; Woodberry et al., 2008), with performance in neurocognitive batteries, and working memory in particular, emerging as a strong predictor of future functional outcome (Green et al., 1996; Nuechterlein et al., 2011). In these cognitive tests, the term "working memory" can refer to either pure short-term memory tests involving replaying a string of digits or words for example, or tests that involve a greater degree of manipulation of information held online, such as the n-back tasks described in section 1.3.3 (Gur et al., 2007). A recent meta-analysis revealed that patients tend to show a WM performance decrease of about one standard deviation below the mean (Fatouros-Bergman et al., 2014), which made

working memory among the most affected cognitive domains, along with verbal memory and processing speed where performance was comparably impaired.

While working memory is generally treated as a separate cognitive domain, the above studies suggest it has special importance relative to other domains, especially with regard to schizophrenia. Goldman-Rakic (1994) hypothesized the centrality of working memory to thought disorder, defining working memory as "the basic psychological process that allows active mental operations and prevents the tyranny of external stimuli". In this way, WM impairments would lead to distractibility and thus attention difficulties. Furthermore, the inability to cohesively string together mental concepts would prohibit the formation of complex goals, manifesting as lack of initiative and goal-directed action. These behavioral impairments once again lead back to prefrontal dysfunction as their underlying physical cause, given the similar loss of function in patients with frontal lobe injuries (Freeman & Watts, 1939; Pantelis et al., 1997). Some have also suggested a specifically spatial (as opposed to verbal) WM deficit in patients, which would seem to further implicate the DLPFC (Park & Holzman, 1992). This hypothesis was partly supported by a meta-analysis finding slightly more consistent deficits in visuospatial compared to verbal working memory (Lee & Park, 2005). But the evidence for prefrontal dysfunction in schizophrenia is not solely based on their shared connection to working memory. Even aside from WM deficits, many differences in prefrontal structure have also been reported in people with schizophrenia, as discussed below.

1.4.2 Prefrontal structural findings

As discussed in section 1.1, the DLPFC sits at the junction of many hypotheses of schizophrenia etiology. While the original source of evidence came from uncontrolled brain injury (see section 1.3.1), more recent studies have investigated the details of prefrontal abnormalities at every level, starting with the genetic. For example, neuregulin-1, a candidate gene associated with schizophrenia (Stefansson, 2002) was found to have altered expression of one of its specific isoforms in the DLPFC of individuals with schizophrenia (Hashimoto et al., 2004). Similar results were found for proteins involved in GABA synthesis (Hashimoto et al., 2003) and GABA function (Hyde et al 2011; Tao et al., 2012), although levels of GABA itself in the DLPFC may not necessarily be altered (Kegeles et al., 2012). DARPP-32, a key protein involved in dopaminergic and glutamatergic signaling, has also been found to be reduced in postmortem DLPFC tissue of people with schizophrenia (Albert et al., 2002). Likewise, while dopaminergic findings are generally concentrated in subcortical regions such as the striatum, cortical dopaminergic abnormalities have also been found in patients (Weinstein et al., 2017). Specifically alterations were found in patients in both dopamine D₁ receptor availability (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002) and dopamine release (Slifstein et al., 2015) in the DLPFC, measured with PET ligands $[{}^{n}C]NNC_{112}$ and $[{}^{n}C]FLB_{457}$. Incidentally, the effect of dopamine on inhibition in the DLPFC was found to be mediated specifically by D₁ receptors (Kröner et al., 2007), suggesting a relationship to the GABA-related inhibitory findings discussed above.

At the more mesoscopic level of cellular structure, Goldman-Rakic & Selemon (1997) found altered neuronal density in the DLPFC of patients, leading them to conclude that the DLPFC in patients exhibits reduced neuropil, since neuronal density was also correlated with cortical thinning. As they point out, this coincides with MRI findings of reduced prefrontal volume in patients (Andreasen et al., 1986; Andreasen et al., 2011; Hajima et al., 2012). Furthermore, both Goldman-Rakic et al. (1997) and Lewis et al. (2001) posit the involvement of the medio-dorsal nucleus (MDN) of the thalamus, based on the laminar specificity of the cellular findings and the known connections between this thalamic nucleus and the DLPFC. This would coincide with the known involvement of MDN neurons in WM maintenance (Fuster & Alexander, 1971).

Alterations in this more macroscopic level of thalamo-prefrontal connectivity has found considerable evidence from related volumetric changes (Knöchel et al., 2016) and findings of diminished white matter integrity (Marenco et al., 2012; Wagner et al., 2015). The question though is how these findings of aberrant prefrontal structure at the protein, cellular, and network levels, translate into dysfunctional brain activity and/or behavior in patients. This question has begun to be answered with more recent multimodal imaging. And indeed, WM-related activation in the DLPFC and cognitive impairment (specifically in working memory or executive function) were both associated with alterations in GABA concentration (Chen et al., 2014), dopamine function (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002; Slifstein et al.,

2015), gray matter volume (Andreasen et al., 2011; Knöchel et al., 2016), and thalamoprefrontal anatomical connectivity (Marenco et al., 2012).

1.4.3 Prefrontal functional findings

Franzen & Ingvar (1975) were the first to report abnormally decreased frontal activation in schizophrenia, using ¹³³Xenon clearance techniques to measure regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF), a proxy for neural activation, at rest. Later studies using similar techniques to measure task-related rCBF during a simple picture-naming task and spatial reasoning test, observed decreased activation in frontal regions in medication-free patients relative to the controls, further supporting the notion of "hypofrontality" (Berman et al., 1988). This abnormal activation was further localized to the DLPFC, and was importantly shown to be more specific to tasks that relied on this area. Hypofrontality was also observed during a non-spatial n-back task, using PET to measure rCBF (Carter et al., 1998). As expected, they demonstrated reduced WM-related DLPFC activation in patients, even when performance did not differ from controls. Additionally, fMRI studies have likewise shown reduced DLPFC activation during n-back paradigms (Glahn et al., 2005) however others have also shown hyper- rather than hypo-activation of DLPFC in patients (Manoach et al., 1999; Callicott et al., 2000). This discrepancy has led many to shift focus from hypo- vs. hyperfrontality, to inefficiency (Potkin et al., 2009), interestingly reviving the original Kraepelinian nomenclature of "mental efficiency" (Kraepelin, 1919). Accordingly, cortical deficits in patients would necessitate either greater energy demands for the same functional output, or

alternatively force the use of less efficient networks that require greater energy usage to perform the same function as networks used by controls (Callicott et al., 2003). More temporally-precise analyses have attempted to better uncover the neurophysiological underpinnings of this well-corroborated inefficiency (Potkin et al., 2009).

While earlier imaging studies above grappled with the "what" of WM-related DLPFC dysfunction, later studies began to examine the "when", by dividing the WM task into separate encoding, maintenance, and execution periods. Using fMRI, Driesen et al. (2008) showed that during the maintenance and execution phases of a spatial delayed match-to-sample task, patients exhibited reduced prefrontal activation even with comparable WM performance. Mirroring the above-noted discrepancies between hypo- and hyper-activation, a large multi-site study found instead increased fMRI BOLD activation during the execution of a verbal WM task (but not during the encoding epoch), again even with matched performance between groups (Potkin et al., 2009). Yet others have shown a more complicated profile of both hypo- and hyper-frontality, as well as diminished lateralization of WM-related activity (Lee et al., 2008), perhaps reflecting compensatory activation in patients. Thus, dissecting individual WM components of encoding, maintenance, and execution, as well as matching for group performance, while slightly emphasizing dysfunctional executive function in patients, nevertheless leaves open the question of what underlies prefrontal inefficiency.
Electrophysiological EEG/MEG studies have likewise documented differential oscillatory activity in patients across many frequency bands (Uhlhaas & Singer, 2010), and may thus help elucidate the neurophysiology underlying prefrontal inefficiency. While few of these studies have localized differences to the DLPFC per se, they are better-suited than fMRI and PET studies to investigate the temporal aspect of prefrontal dysfunction in schizophrenia. Their findings have been varied though. Using a verbal delayed match-to-sample task, Ince et al. (2009) found that frontal delta band event-related synchronization (ERS) and beta band ERD were reduced during encoding and maintenance periods. Other studies employing different WM tasks, such as the n-back, have also found decreased activation during encoding and maintenance periods, manifested as reduced beta and gamma band activity (Barr et al., 2010; Cho et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2014). However, Barr et al. (2010) also note increased gamma activity in patients; this discrepancy may be similarly explained by the inefficiency argument proposed above from fMRI studies. Yet others have found that in patients with early-onset schizophrenia, frontal gamma activity during the maintenance period peaks at lower WM loads compared to controls (Haenschel et al., 2009). Thus, while such electrophysiological studies have not converged on one specific task epoch most significantly altered in patients, they tentatively suggest that prefrontal inefficiency may at least partly rely on dysfunctional task-modulated beta and gamma oscillations.

However, the results of these studies were confined to sensor-based analyses, which prevents a direct anatomic comparison to the fMRI and PET studies of DLPFC

function. Furthermore, at least two major confounds complicate the interpretation of these studies and may partly contribute to the observed differences in patients. First, task performance in patients is generally significantly different, not just in reduced accuracy but also in altered response times, which is important in such temporally sensitive measures as EEG and MEG (Cho et al., 2006; Barr et al., 2010; Haenschel et al., 2009). Second, the presence of antipsychotic medication poses a significant and complicated confound, especially considering the relationship between dopamine and schizophrenia, as discussed in section 1.5.2. In Chapter 3 I present original work that accounts for and examines the effects these confounds.

1.5 Dopamine and schizophrenia

The discovery in the 1950s of D_2 antagonists as antipsychotic treatment ushered in the dominance of dopamine in etiological theories of schizophrenia, and motivated the intense research into the brain's dopamine signaling system, and how alterations in this system in patients may give rise to their symptoms.

1.5.1 The dopamine system

Dopamine-producing neurons are located primarily in two mesencephalic regions of the brain, the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and the substantia nigra (SN), but also further out both rostrally to the hypothalamus and caudally to the medulla (Björklund & Dunnett, 2007). Primate studies demonstrate that dopaminergic neurons project topographically from midbrain regions to regions throughout the brain, such that to an approximation, among midbrain neurons in the VTA/SN that project to the prefrontal cortex (the mesocortical pathway), more medial neurons project to more medial PFC, and more dorso-lateral neurons project to more dorso-lateral PFC. An analogous topographical organization is found in midbrain projections to the striatum, where more medial VTA neurons project to more medial striatal areas such as the ventral striatum (the mesolimbic pathway) and more dorso-lateral midbrain neurons in the SN project to more dorso-lateral subcortical regions such as the sensorimotor and associate striatum (the nigrostriatal pathway) (Williams & Goldman-Rakic, 1998; Weinstein et al, 2017).

With respect to working memory, the mesocortical projections are most important, supplying dopamine to the DLPFC in a tonic as well as phasic manner (Grace, 1991). Feedback from the frontal cortex to the midbrain is relayed via glutamatergic corticomesencephalic projections, which close the loop of this mesofrontal dopaminergic control system (Tanaka, 2006). Additionally, frontostriatal projections underlie prefrontal control of the basal ganglia, which then loop back to frontal cortex via the thalamus, making the overall mesocorticolimbic dopamine system highly dynamic and complex (Alexander et al., 1986).

Besides the dense connectivity between regions of the dopaminergic system, difference among dopamine receptors add to the dopamine system's dynamic and complex interrelationships. There are five types of dopamine receptors $(D_1 - D_5)$, which are grouped into two families (D_1 -type: D_1 and D_5 ; D_2 -type: D_2 , D_3 , D_4) with D_1 and D_2 receptors being the most widespread compared to the other subtypes. Both families are G-protein coupled receptors, but activation of dopamine D₁-type receptors leads to activation of adenylyl cyclase, generally resulting in increased neuronal activity, whereas activation of D₂-type receptors inhibits neuronal activity (Sokoloff & Schwartz, 1995). Their effect on network activity is less straightforward, due to their localization to both excitatory and inhibitory neurons. Laminar localization also differs: while both D_1 and D_2 receptors are expressed more abundantly in the striatum than in other regions, D₁ receptors dominate in the cortex specifically in superficial layers, compared to D₂ receptors which occur in much less abundance and in deeper layers (Meador-Woodruff et al., 1996; Goldman-Rakic et al., 1990). Nevertheless, the functional significance of the smaller number of cortical D₂ receptors may still be instrumental for the pathology underlying schizophrenia, as well as the effect of antipsychotics discussed below (Lidow et al., 1989).

1.5.2 The discovery of antipsychotics and the dopamine hypothesis

The first evidence supporting dopamine's important role in the etiology of schizophrenia came from the observation that chlorpromazine, a D₂ receptor antagonist, greatly reduced positive symptoms, while amphetamines, which dopamine release, exacerbated them (Snyder et al., 1974). stimulate Chlorpromazine quickly rose in psychiatric use during this time from the 1950s (Ban, 2007), and it soon became apparent that its therapeutic effect, and that of other antipsychotics, was due to their action on dopamine receptors (Creese et al., 1976; Seeman et al., 1976). The dopamine hypothesis was thus born, although it was cautioned that evidence at the time was indirect, based only on the therapeutic effect of the drugs (Snyder, 1976). Nevertheless, since this discovery, dopamine antagonists have remained the standard of treatment. This discovery also revolutionized the science of schizophrenia, in its providence of a concrete anchor for other hypotheses of schizophrenia etiology, for example based on prefrontal dysfunction. This motivated investigations of the relationship between the prefrontal cortex and dopamine, by Goldman-Rakic and others, as discussed in section 1.6.

Although the dopamine hypothesis began as little more than a serendipitous connection, the mechanisms by which dopamine may induce the symptoms of

schizophrenia were eventually fleshed out in greater detail, resulting in a new theory of subcortical hyperdopaminergia (accounting for the positive symptoms) combined with prefrontal hypodopaminergia (accounting for the "deficit" symptoms) (Davis et al., 1991). These two facets were conceptualized as two sides of the same coin, as increasing prefrontal dopaminergic function through apomorphine injections resulted in reduced striatal dopaminergic activity, and prefrontal dopaminergic lesions resulted in increased striatal dopaminergic activity (Pycock et al., 1980). Since this updated version of the dopamine hypothesis was based largely on studies in rats, and since the mesocortical dopaminergic system is known to differ greatly in primates (Berger et al., 1988; Björklund & Dunnett, 2007), a new instantiation was warranted, that would also incorporate the different receptor functions in the dopaminergic system, and how it all relates not just to the chronic state of schizophrenia, but the prodrome as well (Howes & Kapur, 2009).

In the latest version of the dopamine hypothesis, many different risk factors for schizophrenia converge specifically on the striatal dopaminergic system to produce the final clinical state of psychosis. Some risk factors include those highlighted in Davis' hypothesis, of increased presynaptic striatal dopaminergic function, transmitted via postsynaptic D_2 receptors, combined with decreased prefrontal dopamine function, specifically at the D_1 receptor. Evidence of modestly greater $D_{2/3}$ receptor density has been reported (Kestler & Vega, 2001), as has evidence of reduced prefrontal dopamine levels (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002). From a genetic standpoint, many of the strongest associated genes are associated with dopaminergic function, although GABAergic and glutamatergic related genes are also highly associated (Howes & Kapur, 2009). Environmental stress factors are also more recently becoming recognized as instrumental mediators of the genetic risk for psychosis (Howes et al., 2017), as they have been found to lead to over-sensitive dopaminergic function specifically in the striatum (Mizrahi et al., 2011).

Seamans and others (Seamans et al., 2001; Rolls et al., 2008) have extended this dopamine theory to the information processing performed by prefrontal cortex to explain how abnormal dopamine signaling, and the differential dysfunction of D_1 versus D_2 receptors, can lead to the host of cognitive symptoms observed in patients (see section 1.6.2). However, one of the obstacles to understanding these mechanisms is the confound of medication present in most studies, discussed below.

1.5.3 Effect of antipsychotic medications on WM activity

It has been common knowledge that antipsychotic medications fail to improve cognitive deficits, and may even exacerbate them given the hypothesized state of prefrontal hypodopaminergia in patients (Reilly et al., 2006). Newer, secondgeneration 'atypical' antipsychotics, which have reduced D_2 receptor affinity but greater serotoninergic affinity, may break with this trend, however. For example, when substituted for haloperidol, risperidone treatment improved verbal working memory in a randomized, double-blind study of 59 patients (Green et al., 1997). A meta-analysis likewise found similar results in other studies (Meltzer & McGurk, 1999), finding additionally that olanzapine, another atypical antipsychotic, improved verbal memory but not working memory. Consistent with this lack of improvement on working memory with olanzapine treatment, Schlagenhauf et al. (2008) found no changes in fMRI-measured DLPFC activation during a WM task after patients switched from typical antipsychotics to olanzapine. In further agreement with Meltzer & McGurk (1999), Honey et al. (1999) found that patients who were switched to risperidone from typical antipsychotics had increased activation in the right DLPFC during a verbal WM task, as well as increased performance. However, a more recent large multi-site study examining the potential cognitive benefits of second-generation antipsychotics found no difference when compared to perphenazine, a typical antipsychotic, although both did minimally improve cognitive performance (Keefe et al., 2007). The presence or absence of neuroleptic effect on cognition thus remains controversial.

Whether effects on performance or activation are due to reduced D₂ receptor antagonism, increased serotoninergic action, or some interaction, is not known. Some have argued that the fMRI BOLD effects are related to the D₂ affinities of antipsychotics (Röder et al., 2013; Abbott et al., 2013), in part due to dopamine's effect on cerebral vasculature (Krimer et al., 1998), but only found evidence for a general, inconsistent effect of atypical antipsychotics on BOLD activity. Similarly, Murphy et al. (2016) demonstrated differential effects of aripiprazole and risperidone versus placebo on WM-related DLPFC activation in healthy individuals: DLPFC activation increased following aripiprazole treatment, but exhibited a trend for reduction following risperidone treatment. While they interpreted this result as a demonstration of the D₂ partial agonist effect of aripiprazole, the complex binding profile of this drug with respect to serotonin receptors still cannot be ruled out as a possibility (Farah, 2005). Thus, in Chapter 3 I present my original work that examines the effects of antipsychotic medication on WM activity, using MEG, which does not have the additional confound of potential neurovascular effects.

1.6 Mechanisms of dopaminergic modulation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortical activity via D₁ and D₂ receptors

How does dopamine modulate the prefrontal cortex to give rise to the patterns of abnormal activation observed in patients? As alluded to above, much of the evidence points to the differential effects dopamine exerts on neuronal activity via D_1 versus D_2 receptors.

1.6.1 Non-human primate and in vitro studies

Motivated by the association of prefrontal dysfunction to schizophrenia (see section 1.4.2), and dopamine to schizophrenia (see section 1.5.2), researchers attempted to clarify the relationship between dopamine and prefrontal activity, especially during WM-dependent behaviors. The first concrete evidence for such a relationship came from the work of Brown & Goldman (1977) who reported the presence of relatively high concentrations of dopamine in the prefrontal cortex, compared to other neuromodulators such as epinephrine. This relationship was further clarified with the extremely thorough studies during the 1990s detailing the meso-frontal dopaminergic projections in monkeys (e.g. Goldman-Rakic et al., 1990; Williams & Goldman-Rakic, 1998). Key findings to emerge from this work revolve around the D₁ receptor, including its greater concentration in the DLPFC compared to D₂, its differential laminar profile compared to D₂ receptors, which was heavily weighted towards the superficial cortical layers, and its localization to inhibitory interneurons in addition to excitatory pyramidal cells (Muly III et al., 1998). This led to the now well-established hypothesis that D₁ receptors are instrumental in

supporting recurrent DLPFC network activity that underlies WM function, via its control of prefrontal inhibition (Kröner et al., 2007).

In addition to the anatomical evidence linking dopamine to the prefrontal cortex, early functional studies confirmed the influence of prefrontal dopamine on working memory via dopamine depletion, which resulted in spatial WM deficits in monkeys nearly as severe as ablation of prefrontal tissue (Brozoski et al., 1979). These behavioral deficits, which were not observed in a simple visual discrimination task, were reversed with dopaminergic treatment and specific to dopamine, compared to norepinephrine and serotonin, depletion of which did not result in The link between dopamine and the DLPFC was further WM impairments. examined with respect to the post-synaptic effects of dopamine. Consistent with the relative abundance of prefrontal D₁ versus D₂ receptors, Sawaguchi & Goldman-Rakic (1991) demonstrated a privileged role of D_1 receptors in the modulation of WM activity in the DLPFC. Specifically, they found that D₁ receptor antagonists impaired short-term memory, while D₂ antagonists injected into the same DLPFC sites did not. Similarly, D₁ receptor antagonist fluphenazine and non-specific dopamine antagonist haloperidol suppressed WM-related DLPFC neural firing, while D₂ antagonist sulpiride did not (Sawaguchi et al., 1988). Much subsequent research has sought to further differentiate the roles of D_1 versus D_2 receptors in modulating WM-related activity, and has painted a more nuanced picture. Specifically, Wang et al. (2004) found that D₂ receptor (ant)agonists do in fact modulate WM-related DLPFC neurons, but only those that were associated with memory-guided behavior as opposed to those associated with delay-related activity. This led to the distinction between D_1 receptor-associated supragranular delay cells, and D_2 receptorassociated infragranular response cells (Arnsten et al., 2015).

Seamans et al. (2001) further demonstrated the differential, and in many ways oppositional, effects of D_1 and D_2 receptor activation on prefrontal network activity, specifically via cortical inhibition. While D_1 receptor activation enhanced inhibition by increasing interneuron excitability, D_2 receptor activation depressed inhibition by decreasing GABA release. They therefore proposed the existence of two states of working memory, one dominated by D_2 receptor activation in which multiple representations would be activated simultaneously but weakly, and another D_1 dominated state, in which only one or few representations would be strongly represented and protected from interference (Seamans et al., 2001; Jacob et al., 2016). Vijayraghavan and others (2007) support this idea by demonstrating that D_1 receptor agonists sharpen the spatial tuning curve of prefrontal neurons, suggesting a more "focused" state less susceptible to distractors.

These results help to explain the "inverted-U" relationship of dopamine to prefrontal cortical function, which is another nuance of dopaminergic modulation of WM-related DLPFC activity. This phenomenon refers to the observation that delay activity in the DLPFC is reduced at low and high concentrations of D₁ receptor stimulation, but increased at intermediate levels (Williams & Goldman-Rakic, 1995; Vijayraghavan et al., 2007). Thus, depending on the endogenous level of dopamine and D₁ receptor activation, low concentrations of both D₁ agonists (Vijayraghavan et al.

al., 2007) or antagonists (Williams & Goldman-Rakic, 1995) may enhance DLPFC neuronal activity, and higher concentrations of either would suppress it (for reviews see Cools & D'Esposito, 2011; Arnsten et al., 2015).

In short, it is hypothesized that the complementary actions of dopamine D₁ and D₂ receptors together sculpt prefrontal network activity to maintain a balance between cognitive stability and flexibility, depending on task demands. A shift in this delicate balance may lead to the cognitive impairment seen in schizophrenia (Winterer & Weinberger, 2004; Rolls et al., 2008). The details of how this would occur have been tackled using computational models (see section 1.6.3), and have begun to be confirmed in human studies as discussed below.

1.6.2 Human studies

Due to the difficulty of DLPFC-specific dopaminergic interventions in humans, human studies are forced to rely on more indirect methods to verify the predictions generated by primate studies and computational models. Such methods include genetic association analyses, the use of systemic dopaminergic agents, and PET to measure different receptor availabilities, as discussed in the following sections, respectively.

1.6.2.1 Genetic associations of dopamine with WM activity

Human genetic associations of dopamine function with prefrontal WM activity generally rely on single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in genes related to dopamine function, as well as to dopamine receptors in particular.

Perhaps the most widely cited dopamine-related gene in relation to schizophrenia is COMT, precisely because of its effect on prefrontal dopamine The gene codes for the protein catechol-O-methyltransferase, which levels. catabolizes dopamine, thus reducing its concentration, especially in the prefrontal cortex. Here, COMT is the main constraint on synaptic dopamine concentrations (Egan et al., 2001). A common mutation in *COMT* gene is the Valuo8/158Met polymorphism (rs4680) in which the minor Met allele results in a 75% reduction of COMT enzymatic activity, thus increasing synaptic dopamine concentrations (Egan et al., 2001). Numerous studies have associated variation in this genotype with prefrontal activation during working memory, using fMRI (Egan et al., 2001; Winterer et al., 2006a), EEG (Winterer et al., 2006b), and MEG (Altamura et al., 2016), which all consistently demonstrated greater prefrontal inefficiency in Val carriers. Furthermore, the effect of decreasing dopamine levels with COMT inhibitors had the predicted differential effect on Val/Val versus Met/Met individuals, such that reducing dopamine levels improved WM performance in Val/Val individuals, who typically have higher levels of prefrontal dopamine, but impaired performance in Met/Met individuals, who typically have lower levels of prefrontal dopamine (Apud et al., 2007).

Less is known about the neurophysiological effects of *DRD1* and *DRD2* SNPs, whose associations with WM-related prefrontal function have only more recently been examined. One of the most widely-studied SNPs in *DRD1* for example, is rs4532, which occurs in the 5' untranslated region of the *DRD1* gene, 48 base pairs

upstream of the protein coding start site (Cichon et al., 1994), and has thus been hypothesized to be involved in regulation of *DRD1* expression (Huang et al., 2008). Via haplotype association with rs686, another SNP of *DRD1*, the C minor allele of rs4532 was indirectly associated with reduced *DRD1* expression (Huang et al., 2008). Despite this indirect evidence, the C allele of rs4532 has been associated with differential treatment response to clozapine (Potkin et al., 2003), who found that C allele homozygotes exhibited significantly less DLPFC response to clozapine treatment. Furthermore, rs4532 has been strongly associated with schizophrenia in a large meta-analysis (Allen et al., 2008), which found the C allele to be the risk allele. However, findings with rs4532 vary greatly. While a more recent study also found associations between the C allele and treatment-resistant schizophrenia (Ota et al., 2012), a greater number have found weak or no effects on schizophrenia risk (Cichon et al., 1994; Kojima et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2010; Dmitrzak-Weglarz et al., 2006), as have meta-analyses (Yao et al., 2014; Pan et al., 2014). In particular, recent very large genome-wide association (GWA) studies have also failed to show a significant effect of rs4532 (or other loci in the DRD1 gene) on risk for schizophrenia (Ripke et al., 2014). While this does not rule out an effect of rs4532 or *DRD1* variance, it suggests that whatever contribution may exist is perhaps filtered in a complex way through interactions with other genes.

The large degree of individual variation in symptomatology of patients may also contribute to the discrepancies between these findings, by masking its potentially increased association with only specific subsets of the clinical phenotype. In particular, this SNP may have greater impact in patients with greater negative symptoms (Zhang et al., 2011, Gurvich et al., 2016), which may partly underlie their treatment resistance. In further support of the functional significance of rs4532, Rybakowski et al. (2005) found that C allele homozygous individuals with schizophrenia performed worse on the Wisconsin Cart Sort Test, a measure of working memory and rule-updating. Additional associations between rs4532, specifically its C allele, and other clinical phenotypes have also been reported, including alcohol dependence (Batel et al., 2008) and inattentive symptomatology in ADHD (Luca et al., 2007). These associations with negative symptoms of schizophrenia and other behavioral phenotypes may reflect the modulation of prefrontal function by rs4532, given the potential relationship between negative symptoms and prefrontal circuitry (Okubo et al., 1997).

Genetic polymorphisms in the *DRD2* gene, perhaps because of their greater association with schizophrenia based on the mechanism of antipsychotics, have recently been examined more closely. Despite the association with schizophrenia (Kaalund et al., 2014), few studies have shown modest effects of *DRD2* genetic variance on prefrontal function during working memory. Specifically, WM-related DLPFC activity was related to both individual SNPs (Zhang et al., 2007) and a *DRD2* polygenic co-expression network, such that greater *DRD2* expression scores predicted prefrontal inefficiency and treatment response in people with schizophrenia (Pergola et al., 2017). While more investigation is needed into these

37

associations, the lack of strong effects would be consistent with the privileged role of D_1 receptors previously discussed.

1.6.2.2 Modulation by dopaminergic agents

More direct interventions using dopaminergic agents have provided greater evidence of dopaminergic modulation of WM activity in humans. While many of these studies have involved individuals with schizophrenia who were prescribed such agents (see section 1.5.3), some studies were also performed with healthy volunteers. Regarding the differential effect of D₁ versus D₂ stimulation, results are mixed: Müller et al. (1998) found that pergolide, a D_1/D_2 agonist, improved performance on a delayed matching WM task in healthy adults, whereas D₂ agonist bromocriptine did not, suggesting a preferential role for D₁ receptors. Similarly, Kimberg et al. (2001) found that bromocriptine did not affect task performance, and while it did modestly reduce activation of WM-related regions, those did not include the DLPFC. However, aripiprazole, a D_2 partial agonist, was found to significantly increase WM-related DLPFC activation as measured by fMRI (Murphy et al., 2016). Results regarding the D₁ agonist dihydrexidine are also mixed: it was found to improve WM performance in a group of patients with schizotypal personality disorder (Rosell et al., 2015), as well as resting-state DLPFC perfusion in people with schizophrenia (Mu et al., 2007), but affected neither performance nor DLPFC activation in a separate group of individuals with schizophrenia (Girgis et al., 2014).

One explanation for this discrepancy, and a complication in relating these results to pre-clinical studies, is that in humans the dopaminergic agents are administered systemically (orally), rather than directly into DLPFC as they are in monkeys. Thus, in human experiments D_2 (and D_1) modulation may affect working memory primarily through other circuits, such as the basal ganglia (Nyberg et al., 2016). This would indeed be consistent with the higher concentration of dopamine receptors in the striatum versus other regions, as well as with the localization of D_2 receptors to deeper cortical layers, which synapse with subcortical regions (Goldman-Rakic et al., 1990).

A second source of discrepancy between human and monkey studies is the modality of measurement of neural activity: in monkeys, electrophysiological activity is measured directly, often in the form of neuronal spiking, while in humans, neural activity is assessed indirectly via blood flow-related changes measured with PET and fMRI BOLD, which may be more associated with neural input rather than output activity (Logothetis et al., 2001). These two important differences impede the effort to relate modeling and non-human primate research to human studies, the bridging of which is crucial to the development of more targeted therapies for cognitive disorders related to abnormal dopaminergic function, such as schizophrenia.

1.6.2.3 Association of dopamine receptor specific function to WM-related DLPFC activity in humans using PET

A more specific intervention involves the administration of radioactive tracer ligands that bind specifically to either D_1 - or D_2 -like receptors. This is the underlying strategy of PET studies, which can use such radioligands to image the binding

potentials of tracers in specific brain regions, and thus infer receptor availabilities. The few studies to use such methods have generally corroborated the existing literature from non-human primates. Specifically, D_1 receptor availability was found to be increased in drug-naïve patients (Abi-Dargham et al., 2012) and strongly predicted WM performance in patients with schizophrenia (but not controls) (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002). While not specific to the DLPFC, a separate study investigated D_1 receptor availability across the whole cortex, and found an association with prefrontal-related network dynamics during working memory (Roffman et al., 2016).

A separate study of healthy individuals found that the change in D_2 receptor availability in the DLPFC following amphetamine-induced dopamine release predicted WM-related DLPFC activation, supporting the important role of dopaminergic function within the DLPFC specifically (Slifstein et al., 2015). No studies have yet examined the differential relationship between D_1 and D_2 receptors as they relate to DLPFC activation, especially in electrophysiological terms that can be directly related to non-human primate studies. In Chapter 4 I present my original work investigating this relationship using MEG to measure electrophysiology, and PET to measure D_1 and D_2 receptor availabilities.

1.6.3 Lost in the noise: an integrated model of dopaminergic modulation of the DLPFC and schizophrenia

There are many ways to approach the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia and its relation to working memory. Here I summarize the perspective based on the differential actions of D₁ and D₂ receptors on prefrontal network activity previously discussed. These differential roles have been formalized in computational models by Durstewitz & Seamans (2008) among others (Rolls et al., 2008). Building off of non-human animal studies discussed in section 1.6.1, the models differentiate between a D₁ receptor-dominated state ("D₁ state") and a D₂ receptor-dominated state ("D₂ state"). In the D₁ state, memory fields, and neural network states in a more general sense, are robust, while in a D₂ state they are more easily disrupted. From a computational point of view, one may regard a memory state as an attractor state of the DLPFC network. In this model, an attractor has variable stability, reflecting how much energy it takes to move the network from that attractor to a different state. One may therefore imagine a robust memory to be a very stable attractor that requires relatively greater energy to degrade, whereas a less robust memory will require less energy to degrade and is thus more susceptible to random noise or incoming stimuli (Rolls et al., 2008).

This conceptualization relates to WM deficits in schizophrenia in that the deficits can be characterized by a shift from the D_1 to the D_2 network state leading to a combination of increased excitation mediated by D_2 receptor hyperfunction (Ott & Nieder, 2016) and decreased inhibition mediated by D_1 receptor hypofunction (Kröner et al., 2007), leading to excessive prefrontal noise. This noisiness and instability of the network leads to poor WM maintenance, increased distractibility, and the "loosening of associations" which Bleuler posited as a core deficit (Moskowitz & Heim, 2011). And since it is a combination of D_1 and D_2 receptor

dysfunction that leads to this inefficient network state, this model hypothesizes that both D_2 antagonists and D_1 agonists are needed to shift the balance back towards an optimal level (Rolls et al., 2008).

Many of the details of these interactions have not been verified in humans. To help answer the question of how dopamine gives rise to prefrontal dysfunction and the accompanying WM deficits in schizophrenia I present three major pieces of work. First: a replication and clarification of the electrophysiological characterization of WM-related prefrontal activity in healthy individuals, to provide quantitative measures by which to assess the impact of dopamine (Chapter 2); second: an examination of how these particular WM-related neurophysiological measures are abnormal in patients with schizophrenia while controlling for (and examining) the effects of medication (Chapter 3); third: an examination of the relationship between these WM indices and prefrontal-specific aspects of dopamine signaling (Chapter 4). Future work will further examine dopamine dysfunction in patients themselves, to test how different abnormalities in this system are related to their WM-related neurophysiological inefficiencies.

CHAPTER 2 SPATIOTEMPORAL CHARACTERIZATION OF WORKING MEMORY ACTIVITY IN HEALTHY INDIVIDUALS

2.1 Introduction

In the project presented in this chapter I investigated the electrophysiological underpinnings of WM-related prefrontal activation in healthy individuals, to provide quantitative measures by which to assess the association with dopamine, which I report in Chapters 3 and 4. I hypothesized that across multiple frequency bands, widespread WM-related cortical activity would be observed. Specific to the prefrontal cortex I expected to see primarily beta and gamma band power modulations. I hypothesized that prefrontal power modulations would be concentrated around the time of the response, which would be consistent with previous findings and also the structure of the task, in which demands of memory manipulation are greatest at this task epoch (Glahn et al., 2002). One of the limitations with the structure of this n-back task with respect to MEG analysis is its continuous nature, which may impede efforts to find a single event to anchor average neural responses. This may contribute to the potential for lack of observed prefrontal power modulations. A lack of response-related activation may also indicate that prefrontal activation is mainly related to stimulus encoding. This would be evident by anchoring event-related averages to the stimuli instead of responses. The findings in this chapter will help guide subsequent analyses presented in Chapters 3 and 4.

The n-back task is a classic WM paradigm that has been consistently shown to activate the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), whether using PET or fMRI. The robustness with which the task elicits DLPFC activity enables it to be used as an effective "reflex hammer" in the study of neurophysiological dysfunction in psychiatric conditions with known DLPFC deficits, such as schizophrenia. However, one major impediment to its use in the study of prefrontal dysfunction is the poor electrophysiologically-based precision with which activity during the task is defined, which complicates attempts to relate human neuroimaging findings to those from in vitro and non-human primate studies. MEG allows for the measure of such electrophysiological activity, as well as sufficient spatial resolution to confidently localize DLPFC-specific activity, especially as compared with EEG.

I therefore used MEG to record neural activity during an n-back task from a large set of carefully screened healthy individuals to attempt to further define the frequency-specific and spatiotemporal activation of the DLPFC during WM performance.

I found that DLPFC activation during working memory manifested as a desynchronization of beta band power, and an enhancement of gamma band power in the pre-response period of the task. There were weak correlations between behavioral measures and measures of neural activity, especially in regions and times overlapping with task-related prefrontal activation. With this more resolved definition of the WM-related DLPFC response, both in frequency band and time, it may be easier to reveal the deeper neurophysiological underpinnings of this potentially abnormal activity in schizophrenia (discussed in Chapter 3) as well as the dopaminergic underpinnings of WM activity in healthy individuals (Chapter 4).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Subjects

Three-hundred forty-two healthy volunteers (HVs) between the ages of 18 and 60 (M = 31.17, SD = 9.51; 195F) were screened as part of the NIMH Genetic Study of Schizophrenia (National Institutes of Health Protocol 95-M-6150) – an ongoing observational study of individuals with schizophrenia, their siblings, and healthy controls. They were screened and excluded for history of alcohol or drug abuse, psychiatric illness, family history of schizophrenia, or injury-induced loss of consciousness.

2.2.2 Data acquisition

Neuromagnetic activity was recorded with a 275-channel SQUID magnetoencephalography (MEG) system (CTF systems), with radial first-order gradiometers uniformly distributed in a helmet, providing whole-brain coverage. Head position was determined by attaching three reference coils at the nasion and preauricular points to each participant, which were used to align the MEG recording to an anatomical MRI. These reference coils were used to record head movement during the recording; data from individuals with overall movement exceeding 5mm were excluded.

Participants were seated in a well-lit magnetically shielded room lined with mu-metal and aluminum to reduce the effect of environmental magnetic noise. The MEG operators communicated with the participant via an intercom system, and visually monitored them via camera.

Participants completed an n-back WM task consisting of a o-back sensorimotor control condition, and 1-back and 2-back WM conditions. Each of the three conditions was presented six times in blocks of approximately 30s. Blocks rotated from 0- to 1- to 2-back, and consisted of 11 stimuli, each presented for 160ms, with an inter-stimulus interval of 1.8s. Participants held, in their dominant hand, a response pad with four colored buttons arranged in a diamond formation. While they all had been previously trained on the task to maximal performance prior to the MEG, task instructions were repeated immediately preceding the MEG recording, as follows: for the o-back, press the button corresponding to the number currently seen; for the 1-back, press the button corresponding to the number seen one number previous; for the 2-back press the number corresponding to the number seen two numbers previous. This task was performed as the last task of a neurocognitive battery including eyes-closed resting state, a passive auditory clicks paradigm, and an auditory oddball task. Only the o-back and 2-back data was used in the present study. The task was adapted from Callicott et al. (1999) (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. N-back working memory task design (adapted from Callicott et al., 1999)

2.2.3 Data preprocessing

MEG signals were digitized at a sampling rate of 600Hz or 1200Hz, and filtered using synthetic 3rd gradient online noise cancellation. Datasets sampled at 1200Hz were down-sampled to 600Hz. Each channel's signal was mean-centered and high-pass filtered at 0.6Hz, as well as notch-filtered at 60Hz (and higher harmonics) to remove power line-related noise. Data quality was evaluated via visual inspection for excessive eye blinks or high frequency activity, which was exclusionary. Stimuli and responses were automatically marked, manually inspected for accuracy, and adjusted as needed.

2.2.4 Data analysis

Anatomical MRIs of each individual were tagged at the nasion and preauricular fiducial points, and then transformed into standard MNI space using

AFNI (Cox, 1996). The MRIs were used to create 3-dimensional brain models, which were used in subsequent source localization. Source localization was achieved using synthetic aperture magnetometry (SAM) (Vrba & Robinson, 2001), a minimum-variance adaptive beamforming algorithm. In short, the algorithm estimates source power by simultaneously maximizing signal from a given point, while suppressing signals from others. Task-related power modulation was estimated as the log power ratio of the active condition (2-back) to the control condition (o-back), at 5mm-spaced grid points throughout the brain. This process additionally removes artifactual activity correlated to task-related activity.

WM-related modulation of source power was first estimated by using a single time window of the 500ms surrounding the last 9 correct responses of each condition (2-back conditions had a maximum of 9 responses). In the case of there being a greater number of correct responses in the o-back condition compared to the 2-back, a subset of the o-back correct responses was randomly selected to match in number to the number of correct responses in the 2-back condition. This "block" analysis was performed for theta (4-8Hz), alpha (8-14Hz), beta (14-30Hz), and gamma (40-150Hz).

In addition to the block analysis, a sliding window analysis was performed as follows: for each frequency range, power was estimated in nine sliding windows of 400ms (overlapping by 200ms) from 800ms before to 800ms after correct responses, thus covering the full length of time from one response to the next. In light of the continuous nature of the n-back task (encoding, maintenance, manipulation/updating and execution are intermixed) time-locking to responses ensured alignment of WM updating and executive processes across trials. For each time window the contrast (log ratio of 2-back power to o-back power) image was transformed into standard MNI space, and then normalized by subtracting the whole-brain mean and dividing by the whole-brain standard deviation. This process was performed independently for each individual.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Behavioral performance

Subjects performed the o-back and 2-back tasks with high accuracy: average o-back score was 99.1% (SD = 2.4%) and average 2-back score was 89.5% (SD = 13.9%), with response times of 506ms (SD = 87ms) and 363ms (SD = 208ms), respectively.

2.3.2 Frequency-specific power modulations

Examining the 500ms window around responses first, all frequency bands exhibited robust WM-related modulation in various regions, especially in beta band, which exhibited particularly strong fronto-parietal activation (Table 2.1).

	Cluster size	MNI coordinate (LPI)			Log power	
Cluster region	(cm³)	Х	У	Z	ratio	<i>t</i> stat
R inferior parietal lobule	50.5	42.5	-57.5	42.5	-1.09	-17.57
L inferior parietal lobule	33.38	-37.5	-57.5	37.5	-0.99	-16.60
R superior frontal gyrus	13.75	32.5	17.5	42.5	-0.72	-11.84
L superior frontal gyrus	11.5	-32.5	17.5	52.5	-0.71	-11.53
R and L orbital gyrus	8.13	-12.5	-102.5	2.5	0.75	12.95
Thalamus	13.38	2.5	-17.5	7.5	0.52	12.49

Table 2.1. Significant clusters of WM-related beta band modulation in the 500ms window spanning correct button press responses. Threshold at 10% most significant voxels.

In theta band, the medial prefrontal cortex showed enhanced power in the 2back relative to o-back condition, and decreased power in bilateral superior temporal and inferior parietal regions. Alpha band exhibited a predominantly inferior parietal desynchronization. Beta band revealed an extremely robust bilateral fronto-parietal desynchronization. Gamma band revealed desynchronizations in left motor and medial prefrontal cortex, as well as power enhancements in right prefrontal and right parietal cortex (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Surface renderings showing 10% most significantly modulated regions by WM task in the 500ms window surrounding correct responses. Orange indicates increases in power in 2-back compared to 0-back (event-related synchronization [ERS]); blue denotes event-related desynchronization (ERD).

Sliding window time series analysis (Figure 2.3) revealed few time-dependent changes in the most significantly activated regions in the slower frequency bands (theta and alpha). Increased theta power in medial prefrontal cortex was sustained throughout the time period, as was decreased parietal cortex power in both theta and alpha bands. In contrast, decreased fronto-parietal power in beta band was concentrated before and around the time of the response, as were prefrontal increases in gamma power. The right prefrontal cortex peaked in beta band desynchronization during the pre-response time window centered at 200ms before the button press response (M = -0.74, SD = 1.03; t(341) = -13.36, p < .001). At times farther away from the response, motor activity was more evident in both beta and

gamma bands, likely reflecting the increased motor preparatory demands in the 2back condition compared to o-back.



Time (milliseconds relative to response)

Figure 2.3. WM-related ERD/ERS across time, relative time of button press response. Times indicate in milliseconds the center of the 400ms window. For each time point the images display the 10% most significant voxels.

2.4 Discussion

I demonstrate here that activation of the prefrontal cortex during working memory manifests predominantly as a desynchronization of beta band activity and enhancement of gamma band power in the pre-response period of the task. The beta band prefrontal desynchronization occurs in the context of the desynchronization of a bilateral fronto-parietal network, a network that has been consistently shown to be activated by WM studies (Owen et al., 2005). Furthermore, activation observed here is especially strong on the right side, which is consistent with previous findings indicating right-prefrontal dominance of both manipulation-related demands (Glahn et al., 2002), which are increased during this WM updating epoch of the task, and the right laterality effect observed in location-based spatial WM tasks (McCarthy et al., 1996; Owen et al., 2005).

The demonstration of beta band desynchronization of the near identical fronto-parietal network shown using fMRI is consistent with previous studies comparing the two modalities (Singh et al., 2002; Stevenson et al., 2011), although WM-related gamma activity has also been found to correlate with fMRI BOLD (Khursheed et al., 2011). While prefrontal gamma is also observed here on the right side, the rest of the WM network is not apparent in this frequency band. This may be due to the nature of the n-back task I used. While other studies use tasks that more clearly differentiate between periods of stimulus encoding and response, responses are more continuous here, which may make it more difficult to see the potentially more rapidly-changing faster frequency gamma modulations.

The results further replicate and clarify previous studies showing modulations of beta and gamma band (Altamura et al., 2010; Palva et al., 2011), particularly in the prefrontal cortex. Using a delayed match-to-sample paradigm, Palva et al. (2011) found suppressed prefrontal (and parietal) oscillatory power in beta and gamma bands, which occurred most strongly during the executive period of the task. However, they combined prefrontal cortex with other WM-related regions, making it difficult to isolate the time course of prefrontal activation alone. Nevertheless, they suggest the presence of beta band desynchronization during pre-response period as well. Similar beta band desynchronization of the fronto-parietal WM network has been shown during the execution period (Altamura et al., 2010). Thus, both the spatial extent and the timing of my findings are consistent with previous findings.

To conclude, the current study achieves two primary goals. First, it specifically identifies the pre-response, or execution period in beta and gamma frequency ranges, as the temporal and frequency-specific loci of WM-related prefrontal "activation"; second, it demonstrates the utility of the n-back task as an elicitor of prefrontal neurophysiological response. This "reflex hammer" and knowledge of the expected response in healthy individuals can be used to evaluate prefrontal neural dysfunction in patients with schizophrenia, as demonstrated in the following chapter.

55

CHAPTER 3 SPATIOTEMPORAL ALTERATIONS OF WORKING MEMORY-RELATED ACTIVITY IN SCHIZOPHRENIA AND ITS MODULATION BY ANTIPSYCHOTIC MEDICATIONS

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter I examined whether and how the particular WM-related neurophysiological measures described above were abnormal in patients with schizophrenia, while controlling for, and examining, the effects of antipsychotic medication. Based on the previously discussed findings of WM-related prefrontal dysfunction in schizophrenia, I hypothesized that this WM task would expose the prefrontal dysfunction in patients at the specific spectro-temporal locus documented above.

In addition to testing for specific dysfunction of beta and gamma activity in patients, I tested for the effects of antipsychotic medication on WM-related activity. I hypothesized based on the importance of D_1 compared to D_2 receptors in WM-related DLPFC activity (see section 1.6.1), and the small effect of antipsychotics on cognitive impairments (Keefe et al., 2007), that medications would not significantly "normalize" prefrontal activity. This would affirm the importance of D_1 receptors and the need for developing D_1 -related treatments for WM impairment. Alternatively, a significant effect of medication may support the hypothesis that the

effect of dopamine receptor modulation on prefrontal activity depends on baseline levels of receptor function and WM performance (Gibbs & D'Esposito, 2005), both of which differ between patients and healthy individuals. A medication effect may also reflect the involvement of receptors besides dopamine, such as serotonin receptors, which are among those targeted by antipsychotic medications (Bymaster et al., 1996). This may be partially resolved by examining correlations between medication effects and other dopamine receptor-specific measures, using positron emission tomography (PET).

To determine the nature of abnormal WM-related neural activity in schizophrenia, and its modulation by antipsychotic medication, I used magnetoencephalography to measure spatiotemporally-specific neural activity of the same patients on and off medication (N=25), as well as performance-matched healthy controls (N=100), while they performed an n-back WM task. During the medication-free condition, patients showed abnormalities in WM-related activation in the beta frequency band, primarily during the 400 milliseconds before correct responses – the time period associated with WM updating and action preparation. The locations of these abnormalities in activation included prefrontal, parietal, and visual cortices. Antipsychotic medication "normalized" the patients' neural responses such that the time-courses of activation in medicated patients more closely resembled those of controls. These findings demonstrate that the neural activation abnormalities in schizophrenia during working memory are frequency
band-dependent and time-specific, and that they are closely associated with neural systems targeted by antipsychotic medication.

3.2 Methods

The main difference in the methods of this study compared to those of Chapter 2 is the addition of the coded medication protocol, an extremely unique and delicate study. The 'coded' study involves slowly and carefully removing patients from their medication for several weeks at a time, and then gradually resuming antipsychotic treatment – a process that relies on the highly trained nursing staff of the NIMH inpatient unit, and takes advantage of the stable and attentive environment they provide. The two arms of this study – the medicated and placebo – were blinded and counterbalanced. This allowed for examination of the effects of atypical antipsychotic medications (D_2 receptor antagonists) on WM-related activity – a significant confound present in many other studies, especially those seeking to understand the dopaminergic underpinnings of prefrontal dysfunction.

3.2.1 Subjects

Twenty-five inpatients with schizophrenia (n=21) or psychosis NOS (n=4), and 100 healthy controls were included in the current study. Written informed consent was provided by each participant in accordance with the NIH Combined Neuroscience Institutional Review Board. All participants were evaluated by physical examination, medical history, routine laboratory studies, urine toxicology, and clinical brain MRIs to confirm the absence of confounding major medical, neurological, or substance-related illness at the time of study. Both patients and controls were also assessed with a clinician-administered structured clinical interview for diagnosis (SCID) (First et al., 1996) to determine psychiatric diagnosis according to DSM-IV criteria or lack thereof for controls.

Patients were recruited to the NIMH Intramural Research Program to participate in research studies related to schizophrenia, and diagnosis was further confirmed with longitudinal psychiatric evaluation on the NIMH inpatient schizophrenia ward. Patients were also assessed by clinical EEG to further rule out confounding neurological problems. Patients participated in a blinded, placebocontrolled cross-over design study, in which after stabilization on standard antipsychotic monotherapy, they underwent two 4-6 week phases in counterbalanced order: a placebo phase and an active, atypical antipsychotic monotherapy treatment phase (aripiprazole [n=4], olanzapine [n=9], quetiapine [n=3], risperidone [n=8], or ziprasidone [n=1]). Doses across different medications were standardized using chlorpromazine equivalents (Andreasen et al., 2010). Medication was administered by inpatient nursing staff under direct observation to ensure study medication adherence.

Healthy control subjects were recruited as part of an ongoing observational study of schizophrenia (as described in Chapter 2, Methods). The subset of controls included in the current analysis (n=100) was chosen to be group-matched to the set of patients on demographic measures (age, sex, and handedness; Table 3.1), as well as on task-related variables (accuracy, response time, and response time variance).

Table 3.1. Participant demographics

	Controls (N=100)	Medicated (N=25)	Unmedicated		
Age±SD (range)	30.22±10.26 (18-54)	2 (18-59)			
Sex (%M)	71	72			
Handedness (%R)	88	88			
Years of Illness		6.1±6.5			
Chlorpromazine Equivalent Dose		308.6±96.7	0		
PANSS Total Score		61.0±9.4	61.4±8.9		

Patients were studied twice: once during each arm, an average of 25.2 days (SD = 5.4) after treatment with either placebo or antipsychotic medication. Controls were studied once.

3.2.2 Data processing and analysis

Within-group analyses were identical to those described in Chapter 2. Voxelwise t-tests were then carried out using AFNI (Cox, 1996) to compare unmedicated patients and controls, at each time window in each frequency. A significance threshold of p < .05, voxel-wise FDR q < .05 across all 9 time windows, was used to determine significantly different regional activation between groups.

Next, to determine which of these regional activations were affected by antipsychotic medication, regions-of-interest (ROIs) containing all voxels significant at p < .05, FDR-corrected in the between-groups comparison were delineated. Data from the placebo and active medication arms in the patients were averaged over these ROIs and analyzed with paired t-tests using R (R Core Team, 2013). R was also used to perform correlations between ROI activations and other variables of interest: chlorpromazine equivalent medication dose, 2-back percent

accuracy, and Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (Kay et al., 1987), of which I used the five-factor consensus model developed by Wallwork et al. (2012) consisting of positive, negative, disorganized, excited, and depressed factors. Statistical significance was determined by Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. Plots were generated using MATLAB (2015).

3.3 Results

Healthy controls and patients (both during the medicated and unmedicated arms) performed comparably on the 2-back and the o-back conditions, as defined by numbers correct, incorrect, and omissions, response time, and variation in response time (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1. Behavioral performance variables for healthy controls and patients while on and off medication. Error bars indicate standard deviations.

In theta, alpha, and gamma bands, the patterns of WM-related power increases and decreases were grossly similar in healthy controls as in people with schizophrenia. While between-group differences appeared in these frequency bands in cortical regions including frontal, temporal, motor, and parietal at thresholds of p < .005, uncorrected, they failed to reach the stringent statistical significance threshold employed here of p < .05, FDR q < .05. Only the group

differences in beta band were significant at this threshold and are described in more detail below.

Healthy controls exhibited a fronto-parietal network of beta band desynchronization, which was strongest during the response period, similar to results shown in Chapter 2. This network consisted of bilateral prefrontal and parietal cortex. The time course of beta band desynchronization is shown for a representative axial brain slice through the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (z=+32) for visualization purposes in Figure 3.2. The concentration of WM-related power decreases in beta band in particular is consistent with previous WM studies and those correlating such power decreases with neural activation as measured with other imaging modalities (Singh et al., 2002; Altamura et al., 2010). Patients exhibited similar WM-related parietal desynchronization, but with frontal increases in synchronization (i.e. neural <u>de</u>activation) rather than the decreases in beta band power corresponding to neural activation in the controls (Figure 3.2).



Time (milliseconds relative to response)

Figure 3.2. Regional localization and time course of WM-related beta band ERD/ERS for unmedicated patients and controls (threshold at 10% most modulated voxels) and their difference (p < .005, uncorrected) in a slice through the DLPFC.

In direct statistical comparison with healthy controls, WM-related activation in unmedicated patients differed at p < .05, FDR q < .05, in 11 spatio-temporally distinct clusters in the beta band (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2. Abnormal beta band activations in unmedicated patients compared to controls and effects of medication in patients. Clusters were identified by comparison of unmedicated patients to controls, and are shown in temporal order relative to the button press response. Statistical assessment of medication effects (on versus off) are indicated for each cluster in the right-hand columns.

0 1 /	Cluster size (mm ³)	MNI coordinate			Peak time	D : ()		Peak	On vs.	On vs. off
Cluster region		x	у	z	(ms rel. to response)	of effect	Peak z score	p value (2-tailed)	off t statistic	p value (2-tailed)
R lingual gyrus	875	12.5	-62.5	-7.5	-600	Patients > Controls	-4.34	1.4e-5	3.32	2.88e-3
R cerebellum	6375	7.5	-87.5	-22.5	-200	Patients > Controls	-5.38	7.5e-8	0.880	NS, 0.387
L middle occipital gyrus	1750	-17.5	-92.5	12.5	-200	Patients > Controls	-4.49	7.0e-6	3.74	1.00e-3
R cuneus	1125	7.5	-82.5	27.5	-200	Patients > Controls	-4.72	2.3e-6	1.73	NS, 0.097

L inferior frontal gyrus	1750	-42.5	32.5	27.5	-200	Controls > Patients	4.77	1.8e-6	-2.94	7.18e-3
R middle frontal gyrus	375	37.5	37.5	32.5	-200	Controls > Patients	4.39	1.1e-6	-2.30	0.031
R insula	375	37.5	12.5	7.5	-200	Controls > Patients	4.10	4.1e-5	-1.99	NS, 0.058
L superior frontal gyrus	875	-32.5	32.5	47.5	0	Controls > Patients	4.79	1.6e-6	-3.66	1.25e-3
L cerebellum	375	-27.5	-37.5	-42.5	400	Patients > Controls	4.17	3.1e-5	-4.13	3.78e-4
L superior parietal lobe	250	-17.5	-52.5	72.5	400	Patients > Controls	-4.18	3.0e-5	0.066	NS, 0.948
L postcentral gyrus	1000	-52.5	-12.5	47.5	600	Patients > Controls	-4.42	9.9e-6	0.436	NS, 0.667

Beta band abnormalities were spatially distributed across several cortical regions, but were temporally concentrated in the 400-millisecond pre-response period. Patients generally showed attenuated WM-related beta desynchronization in frontal regions, and greater desynchronization (increased activation) in posterior regions (Figure 3.2).

I then tested to what extent active medication affected the abnormalities in beta band power modulation identified in those 11 spatiotemporal clusters in the same patients. In all 11 of the clusters, active treatment at least nominally shifted neural activation levels toward those of controls. Paired t-tests of these same patients on and off medication showed that in six of the 11 clusters, this "normalization" of activation was significant, and in an additional two, the effect trended towards significance (p's < .1). In all eight of the clusters that showed significant or trending towards significant "normalizations", the effects were timespecific. That is, antipsychotic treatment significantly altered activation in these regions only for the time windows, or adjacent overlapping time windows, at which they exhibited abnormalities in the unmedicated arm and not for any other nonoverlapping time windows.

In the prefrontal cortex specifically, beta band abnormalities were significantly "normalized" by medication (Figure 3.3), although both the abnormality and the "normalization" were stronger on the left side compared to the right (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.3. Left: axial brain slice showing contrast between unmedicated patients and controls at the time at which the circled cluster has most significant difference (200ms before response). Blue indicates greater ERD in controls. Right: time courses of WM-related activation for the circled clusters, for controls and patients. The gray-shaded rectangle indicates the interval of the time window from which the contrast image on left is generated. The shaded areas around each time series indicate standard errors. Asterisks indicate significance of unmedicated vs. medicated comparison (* = p < .05; ** = p < .01). Images of the stimulus and hand indicate average relative timing of the stimuli and button press responses, respectively.



Figure 3.4. Scatterplots showing abnormalities in ERD of left and right prefrontal cortex in patients. Regions defined by clusters indicated in Figure 3.3. Horizontal lines indicate sample means and standard deviations. * = p < .05; ** = p < .01; *** = p < .001.

The degree of "normalization" of these spatiotemporal clusters did not correlate with changes in 2-back score, PANSS (total score and positive, negative, disorganized, excited, and depressed factors), or antipsychotic dose (all p's > .05, corrected). However, the degree of "normalization" in the left superior frontal gyrus was correlated with improvement in the depressed factor of the PANSS at p < .05, uncorrected (r(23) = .40, p = .047), but this correlation was insignificant after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons.

3.4 Discussion

My findings reproduced those of many key studies of WM-related abnormalities in schizophrenia, while providing more temporally-refined definitions of regional abnormalities and uniquely shedding light on the important question of medication effects. In summary, I found that unmedicated patients, when compared to healthy control participants group-matched on demographic and task-related behavioral variables, showed WM-related abnormalities that were in general: 1) frontal hypoactivations and posterior hyperactivations temporally focused during WM updating; 2) focused in the beta band; and 3) partially "normalized" by medication in a time-specific manner.

Consistent with established multimodal neuroimaging research on WMrelated abnormalities in schizophrenia, I found that unmedicated patients showed widespread alterations in activation, including in the DLPFC. I generally found decreased frontal activation and increased posterior activation, which is also consistent with the first modern neuroimaging studies in people with schizophrenia (Franzen & Ingvar, 1975) as well as more recent WM studies in schizophrenia (Mendrek et al., 2005). However, there is a great deal of variability in whether hypoor hyper-frontality is observed during working memory in patients with schizophrenia (Berman, 2002; Potkin et al., 2009). This may be due to the specific parameters of the task, its difficulty and the performance of the particular study population, and potentially other unknown factors (Callicott et al., 2003). Regardless of the direction, the finding of abnormal prefrontal activation fits into the general hypothesis of inefficient prefrontal activity (Potkin et al., 2009).

My examination of the temporal specificity of these abnormalities extends and further refines these results. Specifically, I discovered that patient abnormalities were concentrated in the period of the task associated with WM updating and execution (the few hundred milliseconds preceding a button press), arguably the task period requiring greatest executive demand. Previous studies have observed WM abnormalities in patients throughout all WM phases, from encoding (Haenschel et al., 2009; Basar-Eroglu et al., 2007), through maintenance and execution (Haenschel et al., 2009; Driesen et al., 2008). While the relative lack of prominent abnormalities in my study during the putative maintenance period is consistent with some neurocognitive literature (Lee & Park 2005), it contrasts with several prior delayed match-to-sample type WM neuroimaging studies (Bittner et al., 2015; Driesen et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2014). Whether this is due to the continuous nature of the n-back task and resultant conflation of the maintenance period with other task phases will require further investigation. Nevertheless, the few abnormalities I did see during this period include parietal regions, where a WM buffering role has been proposed (Callicott et al., 1999). Overall, my findings of abnormal activations predominantly in the time window leading up to responses support the large body of work documenting executive impairments in schizophrenia (Eisenberg et al., 2010).

The WM-related abnormalities identified in unmedicated patients occurred most robustly in the beta band. The significance of activity in this oscillatory band is highlighted by previous WM studies of healthy individuals, showing sustained frontal beta desynchronizations associated with WM processing (Brookes et al., 2011) and established correlations between beta band desynchronization and cortical activation measured by fMRI (Singh et al., 2002; Stevenson et al., 2011). These beta band abnormalities are consistent with previous neuro-oscillatory studies of patients (Haenschel et al., 2009; Barr et al., 2010). While the underlying neurophysiological nature of beta band oscillations is still being investigated (Lundqvist et al., 2016; Sherman et al., 2016), some have demonstrated its relation to inhibitory activity (Jensen et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2013). Given the role of inhibition in working memory (Rao et al., 2000) and the link between inhibitory dysfunction in schizophrenia (Liu et al., 2009; Lewis et al., 2012), it is possible that the abnormal beta oscillations observed here in patients may reflect a dysfunction in cortical inhibition.

WM-related abnormalities in schizophrenia are also often found in the lower frequency delta, theta, and alpha bands (Haenschel et al., 2009; Stephane et al., 2008; Canuet et al., 2010), and especially in the higher frequency gamma band (Haenschel et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2014; Barr et al., 2010; Uhlhaas et al., 2010). In light of the preponderance of gamma band-related findings, the lack of gamma abnormalities observed here is surprising. This may be partly due to the strict statistical threshold used in this study, which may obscure weaker results; gamma activity has especially low signal-to-noise ratio due to lower energy in higher frequencies. Additionally, high individual variability in the timing of certain cognitive functions may further impair the ability of a simple group average to measure them, leading to a lack of group results, especially for shorter-wavelength oscillations. Nevertheless, the robust findings of abnormal beta power modulations reinforce the existing literature documenting abnormal oscillations in schizophrenia, which demonstrate impaired coordination and modulation of cortical activity during cognitive processes (Uhlhaas et al., 2010).

My controlled, within-patient design permitted examination of the effect of medication on WM-related electrophysiological abnormalities in schizophrenia, finding that these neurophysiological abnormalities are significantly reduced by atypical antipsychotic treatment. Previous studies of WM deficits in schizophrenia are often confounded by medication, which my results here suggest may reverse or obscure disease-related abnormalities. Using chlorpromazine equivalents to examine the effect of medication is only a partial solution, which may reveal medication effects (Driesen et al., 2008), and may not (Haenschel et al., 2009); indeed here were found no correlations with chlorpromazine equivalents despite the clear effect of medication overall. FMRI studies that have examined the effect of medication more specifically have also found ameliorations of patient abnormalities in response to antipsychotic treatment, and after switching from typical to atypical antipsychotics (Abbott et al., 2013; Honey et al., 1999; see section 1.5.3). While these previous studies have examined changes in fMRI activation

following antipsychotic treatment, ours is the first to demonstrate similar changes in WM-related neural oscillations, suggesting an intimate relationship between beta oscillations and the neurochemical targets of antipsychotic treatment. This close relationship is further supported by the temporal specificity of the medication effects. Not only did antipsychotic medication largely abolish the observed abnormalities, but also did so in a time-specific way, modulating ROI beta activations only in the time windows during which abnormalities were observed. Due to the varied receptor affinity profiles of atypical antipsychotics and the treatment of patients with different medications, it is difficult to verify which aspect of these medications is most involved in the "normalization" effects observed here. While atypical antipsychotics have high affinities for serotonin receptors (Goldstein, 2000), their clinically relevant mechanism of action has been confirmed to be mainly based on D₂ receptors (Seeman, 2002) (although perhaps in the context of a more complex relationship with serotonin receptors [Richtand et al., 2007]).

Nevertheless, more thorough studies of individual medications are needed to determine the receptor-specific effects of these neuroleptics on neural oscillations. However, it is reasonable to hypothesize that the medication's effect on neural oscillations is due in large part to action at D₂ receptors. Furthermore, the modulation of beta band oscillations by dopamine has already been well established in patients with Parkinson's Disease (Brown et al., 2001). Using positron emission tomography (PET) to assess different dopamine receptor availabilities may help to elucidate the underlying "normalization" effect of medication observed here. A

preliminary investigation utilizing this methodology is presented in Chapter 5. This work thus provides impetus to better understand how this cognitively relevant beta oscillatory signal may be regulated by the dopaminergic system, and how dysfunction in this system impacts cognitive impairments in schizophrenia.

To conclude, my study provides new information regarding the effect of medication on finely resolved time courses of oscillatory activity. Taking advantage of the unique spatiotemporal resolution of MEG, I not only identified prefrontal abnormalities in beta band activity, but also localized them to specific time windows, suggesting they may underlie similar prefrontal abnormalities previously found with PET and fMRI. This work provides evidence that such abnormalities may arise in large part in and around the execution period, rather than the maintenance phases. Future work focused on delineating the circuitry linked to beta oscillations during working memory, its molecular contributors, and particular disruptions in illness will help attain much needed traction on understanding and ultimately combating cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. I present initial examinations into such molecular contributions, in the context of healthy individuals, in the following chapter.

74

CHAPTER 4 EFFECTS OF D₁ RECEPTOR FUNCTION ON WORKING MEMORY-RELATED PREFRONTAL ACTIVITY IN HUMANS

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter I examine the relationship between WM-related pre-response beta band desynchronization, and different aspects of dopamine signaling. Specifically, I begin to resolve some of the discrepancies in the relative impact of D₁ versus D₂ function in WM-related DLPFC neural activity. This necessitates the measure of both D₁ and D₂ receptor function, specifically in the DLPFC, in the same individuals, as well as prefrontal-specific neural activation. I attempted this by measuring prefrontal D₁ receptor availability with [¹¹C]NNC12, prefrontal D₂ receptor availability with [¹⁸F]fallypride, and prefrontal electrophysiological activity during working memory with MEG. These ligands have been previously shown to be highly sensitive, enabling the measurement of cortical dopamine signaling (Abi-Dargham et al., 2000; Olsson et al., 2004). I hypothesized that D₁ receptor availability would show a significantly greater relationship with WM-related activity than D₂ receptor availability.

Depending on whether D_1 or D_2 receptor availability correlates more with DLPFC beta band activity, the source of this association will be further probed with an examination of receptor-specific genetic polymorphisms, for example the *DRD1*

related SNP, rs4532. While overall associations of this SNP to schizophrenia are mixed (see section 1.6.2.1), more specific associations with negative symptoms may be stronger. This more specific relationship with only a subset of the dysfunctional circuitry underlying schizophrenia would be consistent with the putative neurophysiological basis of this SNP, i.e. its effect on prefrontal D₁ function.

If there is no genetic association, that may reflect multiple possibilities. One would be that the effect of rs4532 on *DRD1* function and subsequent network activity is simply not manifested by changes in beta band desynchronization. Another possibility would be that the true effect of rs4532 on *DRD1* function is negligible or too small to be observed, which would be consistent with negative findings of its association with schizophrenia, but inconsistent with its association with other behavioral phenotypes (see section 1.6.2.1). While one cannot draw firm conclusions from negative findings, such a separation of associations between the NNC and genetic results may also reflect a strong environmental influence on dopaminergic signaling, which may not be mediated by any genetic architecture. This would fit with the highly experience-dependent nature of the dopaminergic system, especially with respect to prefrontal cortex and schizophrenia (Selemon & Zecevic, 2015). If there is a genetic association, this would not preclude developmental influences as well, but it would also suggest that the schizophrenia-related risk conferred by such genetic polymorphisms may be mediated by their effect on prefrontal network function (see section 1.6.2.1). Based on the strong experimental evidence linking D_1 receptors and prefrontal WM-related activity (see section 1.6.1) I hypothesized that there would be an association of D₁-related genetic variation and prefrontal activity.

Despite decades of animal studies examining in detail the complicated relationship between dopamine receptors and prefrontal activity, human studies have been scarce. To examine the relationship between in vivo human dopamine receptor function in the prefrontal cortex, and prefrontal neuronal activity during working memory, I used a combination of PET and MEG. Specifically I used $[^{11}C]NNC_{112}$ ("NNC") and $[^{18}F]$ fallypride ("fallypride") to index D_1 and D_2 receptor availability, respectively. In a sample of healthy volunteers, D₁ receptor availability significantly and positively correlated with WM-related beta band activation in the DLPFC, while D₂ receptor availability did not. However, their correlations were not significantly different from each other. The relationship between D_1 receptor function and prefrontal activity was further studied by examining the association between the DRD1 SNP rs4532 and WM-related beta activity. Compared to T allele carriers, C allele homozygotes showed significantly reduced beta band desynchronization of the DLPFC. These findings thus confirm in humans the specific role of the D₁ receptor in WM-related prefrontal function, suggesting further a genetic contribution to this relationship.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Subjects

Of the 342 healthy participants studied in Chapter 2, 40 participated additionally in combined NNC and fallypride studies (mean age = 39.3 [*SD* = 10.7], 21M) and 181, all of European ancestry, participated in the genetic study of rs4532 (mean age = 32.1 [*SD* = 10.0], 82M).

4.2.2 **PET data processing and correlation with MEG**

I used the PET radioligands NNC and fallypride, to assess dopamine D_1 and D_2 receptor availability respectively. Both scans were collected on a Siemens HRRT (CPS Innovations, Knoxville, TN) on separate days. The scanning procedure began with a positioning scan followed by an 8-minute transmission scan to correct for attenuation. An intravenous bolus injection of either NNC or fallypride over 60 or 30 seconds, respectively, initiated the scan. Average doses of NNC and fallypride were 19.76mCi (SD = 0.40) and 5.12mCi (SD = 0.11), respectively. The PET scan consisted of a 90-minute emission scan for NNC, and three 1-hour emission scans over four hours for fallypride.

Receptor availability was assessed by calculating the non-displaceable binding potential (BP_{ND}) at each voxel in a subject's brain. This was achieved by implementing the simplified reference tissue model (SRTM) in PMOD (PMOD Technologies Ltd., Zurich, Switzerland), using the cerebellar time activity curve as reference region. The resulting brain-wide voxel estimations of BP_{ND} were then warped with ANTs (Avants et al., 2011) into standard MNI space using the subject's anatomical MRI, and smoothed with an 8mm Gaussian kernel using SPM (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, University College London, London, UK).

MEG data acquisition and processing procedures were identical to those outlined in previous chapters. Correlations between PET and MEG were performed using R, and Bonferroni-corrected for multiple comparisons.

4.2.3 DRD1 rs4532 genotyping

To exclude any ancestry-related confounds, such as variable SNP imputation accuracy (Huang et al., 2009), only individuals of European ancestry were included in this study. Standard techniques were used to extract DNA from blood samples provided by participants. Genotyping of >550,000 SNPs was performed on Illumina QUAD SNP chips. Genotyping completion was >90% and quality was ensured by re-genotyping, which yielded >99% reproducibility. Pre-phasing was first performed using SHAPEIT2 to estimate haplotypes (Delaneau et al., 2014), followed by genotype imputation using IMPUTE2 (Howie et al., 2009) using as a reference panel the phase 3 dataset of 1000 Genomes Project (The 1000 Genomes Project Consortium, 2015). Imputation quality of the SNP genotyping was assessed by the "info" score, which was >0.9. Individual rs4532 genotypes were obtained from this final imputed genome for each subject. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was tested using R (Graffelman, 2015).

4.2.4 ROI analysis

DLPFC-specific values for BP_{ND} and beta band desynchronization were calculated by averaging over all voxels within a mask of the DLPFC, constructed based on the cytoarchitectonic definition of BA9/46 by Rajkowska & Goldman-Rakic (1995) (Figure 4.1). Statistical tests were performed in R.



Figure 4.1. Region defined as the DLPFC, from Rajkowska & Goldman-Rakic (1995).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 MEG beta band desynchronization

WM-related beta band desynchronization (i.e. activation) in this group of 40 was similar to that observed in previous control groups (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2. Contrast image showing WM-related desynchronization 200ms prior to responses in group of controls who also had PET scans. Threshold at 10% most significant voxels.

The time course of desynchronization was also similar to results reported above, as





Figure 4.3. Time courses of beta band desynchronization of right and left DLPFC for group of controls who also had PET scans.

While beta desynchronization in the right DLPFC peaked at -200ms (M = -0.47, SD = 0.66; t(39) = -4.54, p < .001), there was not significant desynchronization at this time window in the left DLPFC (t(39) = -1.49, p = .15.), which instead peaked at the time of the response. The right DLPFC was therefore used in subsequent analyses here.

4.3.2 Correlations between MEG and dopamine receptor binding

Mean D₁ receptor BP_{ND} in the right DLPFC was 0.42 (SD = 0.09), and D₂ receptor BP_{ND} in the right DLPFC was 0.32 (SD = 0.15). Both D₁ and D₂ receptor binding potentials were significantly correlated with age (p's < .01). Using linear regression, D₁ and D₂ receptor bindings potentials were therefore modeled at the mean age of the group (39.3 yrs.). In the right DLPFC, D₁ receptor BP_{ND} was significantly correlated with WM-related beta desynchronization (r(38) = .42, p = .0066; Figure 4.4). The correlation between beta desynchronization and D₂ BP_{ND} was not significant (r(38) = .22, p = 0.16). However, there was not a significant difference between these two correlations (t(37) = 1.06, p = 0.15).



Figure 4.4: Correlation of beta band desynchronization (200ms prior to responses) with D_1 receptor BP_{ND} in the right DLPFC.

While the left DLPFC did not exhibit a significant correlation between D_1 receptor binding and beta desynchronization at this time window (centered at 200ms before response), I hypothesized that this may be influenced by the differential time course of desynchronization of the left DLPFC compared to the right. Indeed, at the time of peak activation of the left DLPFC, which was centered exactly at the time of response, there was a weak correlation (r(38) = .38, p = 0.02), although it did not survive correction for multiple comparisons.

4.3.3 Effect of rs4532 genotype

Of the 181 individuals included in the genetic study, 22 were minor allele (C) homozygotes, and 76 were major allele (T) homozygotes (Table 4.1). Genotype distribution was found to be in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ($\chi^2(1) = .008$, p = .93).

There were no significant differences between the genotype groups in age, sex, or 2back performance.

Demographic				
variable	TT (N=76)	CT (N=83)	CC (N=22)	<i>p</i> value
Age (SD)	30.6 (9.7)	33.2 (10.0)	33.0 (10.6)	0.248
Sex (%F)	60.5	53.0	40.9	0.244
WM performance (%correct) (SD)	91.4 (12.3)	90.9 (13.9)	91.9 (7.6)	0.927

Table 4.1. Demographic information by genotype

Due to a trending towards significant correlation between age and beta band desynchronization in the DLPFC (r(179) = -.12, p = .10), age was regressed out by modeling beta desynchronization at the mean age (32.1 yrs.). A main effect of genotype on WM-related beta band desynchronization in the right DLPFC was revealed by ANOVA (F(2,178) = 3.49, p = .03). Post-hoc t-tests revealed the CC genotype to have significantly reduced desynchronization compared to both CT (t(103) = 2.54, p = .013) and TT genotypes (t(96) = 2.49, p = 0.014). There was no difference in desynchronization between CT and TT genotypes (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5. Scatterplots showing beta band desynchronization of right DLPFC by rs4532 genotype. Horizontal lines indicate sample means and standard deviations. * = p < .05.

4.4 Discussion

In this study I found that DLPFC-specific function of the dopamine D₁ receptor predicted the degree of WM-related beta band desynchronization also in the DLPFC. While this correlation was significant only in the right DLPFC at the predicted time window, it was also tentatively present in the left DLPFC at its time of greatest activation – the time of the button press response. The relationship between D₁ receptor and prefrontal beta activity was further found to exist at the genetic level, such that C allele homozygotes of the *DRD1* SNP rs4532 exhibited significantly less WM-related beta band activation in the DLPFC.

Few studies have examined the effect of D_1 receptor function on WM performance in healthy adults (see section 1.6.2.2). One study utilizing pharmacological agents showed improvements of WM function in response to D_1 agonist treatment (Müller et al., 1998). However, this may or may not be due to the agent's actions at prefrontal cortical dopamine receptors. Abi-Dargham et al. (2002) used NNC to examine the relationship between WM performance D_1 receptor availability in the DLPFC, and found no relationship in healthy controls, but rather found that in patients higher D_1 receptor availability correlated with poorer WM performance.

More studies have examined the relationship between D_1 receptors and prefrontal function in schizophrenia. In contrast to Abi-Dargham (2002), Okubo et al. (1997) used PET to demonstrate decreased D_1 receptor availability in patients, which also correlated with worse negative symptoms and poor cognitive performance. This discrepancy may be partially explained by the different D₁ receptor ligand used, or the clinical severity of the patient samples (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002). While the direction of findings are mixed, they tend to suggest significant modulation of prefrontal activity by D₁ receptor function (although see Girgis et al., 2014). While I did not observe a correlation between D₁ receptor availability and WM accuracy, the correlation with prefrontal activity provides a potential mechanism by which such an effect on performance could take place. Undoubtedly, prefrontal beta band desynchronization only partially contributes to the complex phenotype of WM performance.

Still, this study's finding of increased beta band desynchronization associated with increased D_1 receptor availability is the first to demonstrate a relationship between DLPFC-specific dopamine receptor function and DLPFC-specific electrophysiological activity in humans. The electrophysiological component of this study is important as it allows for more straightforward association with primate studies and computational models, as well as providing a more direct measure of neural activity compared to fMRI or PET. A limitation of this finding is that NNC has been shown to bind to serotonin (5-HT) receptors as well, based on the observation of that 5-HT₂ receptor antagonist ketanserin reduces NNC signal in cortical regions by ~30% (Catafau et al., 2010). It is thus possible that the correlation of NNC with beta band desynchronization also reflects an underlying serotoninergic association with beta band. Testing the association of beta desynchronization with *DRD1* variance served to partly address this uncertainty.

While this study is the first to report an association of the *DRD1* SNP rs4532 with WM-related prefrontal activity in healthy individuals, several previous studies have examined this relationship in individuals with schizophrenia (see section 1.6.2.1). The findings of these studies are mixed, but where they do find significant associations, they agree on the C allele conferring schizophrenia risk (Allen et al., 2008), correlating with negative symptoms related to schizophrenia (Gurvich et al., 2016), and indirectly associating with reduced *DRD1* expression (Huang et al., 2008). This is all consistent with my finding that C allele homozygotes exhibited reduced prefrontal beta band desynchronization, similar to that observed in patients (see Chapter 3).

However, one may also interpret reduced beta band desynchronization as neural efficiency rather than a deficit (Altamura et al., 2016), in which case the C allele is a beneficial mutation in healthy individuals, with respect to WM-related prefrontal function. While beta band desynchronization has been associated with fMRI BOLD signal, it is not a direct measure of energy usage, so the inefficiency argument may not be as applicable to this measure of neural activity. Nevertheless, a differential relationship of the SNP with prefrontal activation in people with schizophrenia versus healthy individuals would be consistent with the hypothesis that these groups of individuals lie on opposite sides of the inverted-U curve of dopaminergic modulation of prefrontal activity (Vijayraghavan et al., 2007). In support of this alternative, Zhu et al. (2011) report that the C allele is protective, although this result was not significant. The observation that increased D₁ receptor availability correlates with increased beta band desynchronization may also be re-interpreted in the same light. While some have found that D₁ receptor availability is reduced in patients (Okubo et al., 1997), others have more recently found the opposite (Abi-Dargham et al., 2012), in particular in drug-naïve patients. This may suggest that increased D₁ receptor availability is a risk phenotype, which would be consistent with the notion that beta band desynchronization is a marker of neural inefficiency rather than healthy prefrontal function. More within-individual investigations, with perhaps more difficult WM conditions, are needed to better resolve this question of inefficiency.

To conclude, I provide evidence for the association of prefrontal electrophysiological activity with D₁ receptor function via two separate markers – both at the expression level using PET, and at the genetic level using the SNP rs4532. While more work is needed to determine the precise physiological ramifications of these PET and genetic markers, they tentatively suggest that the influence of D₁ receptors on WM activity in the prefrontal cortex is mediated/indexed by prefrontal beta oscillations.

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS

While prefrontal dysfunction and aberrant dopamine signaling are heavily implicated in the etiology of schizophrenia, the relationship between these two dimensions has not been adequately examined in humans. In this thesis, I therefore aimed to enhance our understanding of the neural underpinnings of dysfunctional activation of prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia, and how dopamine receptor function is associated with a specific index of neural activity in healthy individuals. To achieve these aims, I first used MEG to define in a large group of healthy volunteers, and in a more precise neurophysiological manner, the spatiotemporal signature of prefrontal activity during a prefrontal-dependent task – the visuospatial n-back (Chapter 2). I found that WM-related prefrontal activation was most characterized by beta band ERD in the pre-response, executive period of the task, during which WM updating and manipulation demands were hypothesized to be greatest. I then tested for abnormalities in pre-response beta ERD in a group of patients with schizophrenia, while both on and off antipsychotic medication, to examine its effects on this physiological response (Chapter 3). I found that prefrontal beta desynchronization was deficient in patients while off medication, suggesting that beta ERD may contribute to the prefrontal dysfunction observed in other modalities. I also observed that antipsychotic medications, D₂ receptor antagonists, partially but significantly "normalized" this deficiency. In Chapter 4, I

discuss my subsequent examinations, in healthy individuals, of associations between various aspects of dopamine function and beta band ERD in the DLPFC, using PET and genetic methods. I report that D_1 , but not D_2 receptor function as assessed by PET, and polymorphic variance in the D_1 receptor gene, were significantly associated with WM-related beta ERD. Taken together, these results point towards a significant association between prefrontal dopamine D_1 receptor function and prefrontal beta band desynchronization during working memory.

This represents some of the first work to examine such an association of DLPFCspecific WM-related electrophysiology with dopaminergic parameters in humans. As discussed earlier, human electrophysiological findings may help link the extensive research in non-human primate models of schizophrenia with the similarly extensive, but more macroscopic fMRI and PET findings in humans. For example, when combined with recent models of beta band oscillations (Sherman et al., 2016), my results suggest specific abnormalities in the task-modulated synchronization of different types of thalamocortical inputs to DLPFC. More generalized models that incorporate various neurochemical parameters may be able to generate predictions about the effects of specific dopaminergic alterations (such as those hypothesized in schizophrenia) and dopaminergic interventions on cortical network activity.

Results presented here linking D_1 receptor-related features of the dopamine system with WM-related beta ERD are limited by their correlative nature. While here-presented results cannot alone demonstrate a causative role of D_1 receptor function on beta oscillations, they are consistent with many primate WM studies with more direct interventions. Those primate studies have shown that increasing D_1 receptor stimulation to a certain point enhances WM activity in DLPFC neurons (Vijayraghavan et al., 2007). One intriguing caveat is that the beta band ERD observed here may be more related to executive rather than mnemonic function, and response-related DLPFC activity has been shown to be more dependent on D_2 rather than D_1 receptors (Wang et al., 2004). However, due to the continuous nature of the n-back task, maintenance demands exist to some extent throughout the task. A more temporally-refined analysis of which task epochs are most correlated with D_1 versus D_2 receptor availability in DLPFC may thus be fruitful. One may predict that correlations with D_2 may be greater during more executive-related task epochs compared to other epochs, and correlations with D_1 may be greater during more maintenance-related periods compared to other time windows.

While in healthy controls I could only demonstrate a correlation between beta ERD and dopamine function, in patients with schizophrenia I was able to show a causative role of dopaminergic intervention, namely that D_2 receptor antagonists partially "normalized" prefrontal beta ERD. One important question that remains is what underlies this effect? One set of possibilities is via medication binding to prefrontal D_2 receptors either directly in DLPFC or in the striatum, where they are most abundant (Meador-Woodruff et al., 1996). One could test these possibilities by examining D_2 receptor availabilities in unmedicated patients in both DLPFC and striatum, assuming that receptor availabilities would be markers of the action

potential of medications. While my sample size was small, I found preliminary evidence that antipsychotics modulated prefrontal function via indirect striatal connections, since striatal D₂ receptor availability (measured by fallypride) strongly predicted left prefrontal beta band "normalization" following medication ($r_s(10) = .78$, p = .0047; Figure 5.1). This statistical association was not found between beta band "normalization" and D₂ receptor availability in DLPFC ($r_s(10) = .37$, p = .24). However, there was only a trend-level significant difference between these two correlations (t(9) = 1.94, p = .08).



Figure 5.1. Correlation between striatal D_2 receptor availability and "normalization" (medicated – unmedicated) of left DLPFC beta band desynchronization.

This result strongly suggests that prefrontal function in individuals with schizophrenia is associated with striatal D_2 receptor activation. This is consistent with previous findings linking WM-related prefrontal activity with striatal
dopaminergic synthesis capacity (Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2002), as well as with the mechanism of action of antipsychotics being based on binding to striatal D₂ receptors (Howes et al., 2009). However, it does not exclude the possibility that D_1 receptors also partly underlie medication effects, especially since some antipsychotic medications bind to D_1 receptors as well (Richtand et al., 2007). This possibility was thus tested using NNC to measure D₁ receptor availability. No statistically significant correlation was found between beta band "normalization" and D₁ receptor availability in either DLPFC ($r_s(10) = -0.31$, p = 0.33) or striatum $(r_s(10) = -.04, p = .90)$. Furthermore, the correlation between beta band "normalization" and striatal D₂ receptor availability was significantly greater than with striatal D₁ receptor availability (t(9) = 2.92, p = .017). However, larger sample sizes are needed to more definitively examine the relationship between D_1 and D_2 receptor availabilities and prefrontal function in patients alone. Larger sample sizes and additional experiments may yield insight into the potential contributions of serotonin, histamine, muscarinic, and other receptors to which atypical antipsychotics also bind, with sometimes greater affinity than to dopamine receptors themselves (Goldstein, 2000; Richtand et al., 2007).

The correlation between striatal D_2 receptor availability and WM-related beta band "normalization" in patients also raises an interesting possible discrepancy between patients and controls, highlighting the differential and complex relationship between D_1 and D_2 receptor-based modulation of WM-related prefrontal activity (see section 1.6.3). Specifically, in healthy individuals there is a

strong association of beta band desynchronization with D₁ receptor function, while in patients this neural response is associated more with D₂ receptor function. One possibility for this divergence is that the prefrontal cortical network in patients may be shifted into a regime in which it is modulated more by D_2 receptors than D_1 receptors. This differential relationship may reflect a D₂-dominated state that indeed partly defines the disorder (Rolls et al., 2008). Thus, while many relatively healthy individuals and some patients may benefit from D₁ receptor agonists, other patients may not (Girgis et al., 2014), depending perhaps on which regime – D_1 or D_2 - dominates their dysfunctional prefrontal cortex activity. If the differential relationship between patients and controls does reflect a shift to a D₂-dominated state, one might predict that antipsychotic medication may shift patients back into a D₁-dominated state, in which the same correlation between beta band desynchronization and prefrontal D₁ receptor availability observed in controls, is also present in these patients. However, I do not observe any evidence for this in this study, since there was no significant correlation between WM-related beta ERD and D₁ receptor availability in the DLPFC, in patients while on medication ($r_s(10) =$.23, p = .47). A larger sample size may be necessary to observe such a "normalization" of dopaminergic association, or alternatively, one may need to examine only patients who responded sufficiently to medication (perhaps using "normalization" of beta band desynchronization as a measure of medication response).

Another outstanding question, which may also shed some light on the D_1/D_2 interplay, is the lack of prefrontal gamma band abnormalities in patients, given the robust prefrontal gamma activation in controls. The absence of any observed abnormalities may be partly explained by the weakness of the gamma signal in general, combined with the strict statistical threshold used, of FDR q < .05. Another possibility is that gamma activity is more related to stimulus encoding rather than WM execution, in which case using stimuli as the anchoring events rather than responses may reveal greater abnormalities in patients. Preliminary results suggest that this was the case. While both patients and controls exhibited increased poststimulus gamma synchronization in the right prefrontal cortex, in unmedicated patients this activation measure was enhanced compared to controls (Z = 3.23, p = .0012, uncorrected; Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2. Activation differences in gamma band between controls and unmedicated patients, 200ms after stimulus presentation. Orange indicates greater activation in patients (threshold at p < .005).

This hyperfrontality complements the hypofrontality observed in beta band, and presents a second aspect of the prefrontal inefficiency often reported in schizophrenia (Potkin et al., 2009). Interestingly, medication significantly "normalized" this gamma band manifestation of inefficiency as well (t(24) = -2.93, p = .0073). Clearly this result merits more investigation, particularly into whether beta

and gamma band prefrontal abnormalities in schizophrenia may reflect common dysfunctions, or instead independent aspects of prefrontal dysfunction that combine to produce prefrontal inefficiency. These results are consistent with previous findings by Barr et al. (2010) who also found both reduced beta and increased gamma activity in patients during a WM task. They noted that GABArelated dysfunction may underlie this abnormal shift between beta and gamma band, since a GABA_B antagonist was shown to shift EEG-measured spectral power from beta to gamma, albeit in a mouse model of epilepsy (Marrosu et al., 2004).

Other future directions include testing the effect of *DRD1* genetic polymorphisms on D₁ receptor availability. This may help to associate SNPs such as rs4532 with specific physiological function. Based on the results presented here, one would expect the C allele homozygotes of the rs4532 SNP to have decreased D₁ receptor availability. Future work will also examine the differential effects of these PET-measured and genetic differences in dopaminergic function in people with schizophrenia, to help determine what kind of D₁-related treatment would be expected to best alleviate their cognitive deficits. Based on the early evidence showing association of rs4532 to negative symptoms (Gurvich et al., 2016) and treatment resistance (Potkin et al., 2003), one may predict that different groups of patients may benefit from different types of dopaminergic treatment. Results here suggest that prefrontal beta band oscillations may be a useful marker of such differential treatment response. However, more work relating beta band desynchronization to other neural systems associated with dopamine's effect on prefrontal activity, such as GABAergic signaling, may be necessary to fully develop beta band as a useful marker.

To conclude, while this work raises many questions about the dopaminergic modulatory mechanisms of prefrontal neurophysiology, it also significantly advances the current state of understanding of this rich research area by linking findings from other studies to in vivo human neurophysiology. And by anchoring beta band oscillations to different aspects of prefrontal and dopaminergic function, my findings place this electrophysiological signature of cortical activity firmly in the mix of crucial measures to investigate more closely with respect to schizophrenia. More spatiotemporally-resolved investigations of prefrontal neurophysiology and its association to different neurochemical and genetic dimensions may help to gradually solve the puzzle of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1000 Genomes Project Consortium, T., Auton, A., Abecasis, G. R., Altshuler, D. M., Durbin, R. M., Abecasis, G. R., ... Abecasis, G. R. (2015). A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature*, 526(7571), 68–74.
- Abbott, C. C., Jaramillo, A., Wilcox, C. E., & Hamilton, D. A. (2013). Antipsychotic Drug Effects in Schizophrenia: A Review of Longitudinal fMRI Investigations and Neural Interpretations. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 20(3), 428–37.
- Abi-Dargham, A., Martinez, D., Mawlawi, O., Simpson, N., Hwang, D. R., Slifstein, M., ... Laruelle, M. (2000). Measurement of Striatal and Extrastriatal Dopamine D1 Receptor Binding Potential With ["C]NNC 112 in Humans: Validation and Reproducibility. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, 20(2), 225–243.
- Abi-Dargham, A., Mawlawi, O., Lombardo, I., Gil, R., Martinez, D., Huang, Y., ... Laruelle, M. (2002). Prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors and working memory in schizophrenia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(9), 3708–3719.
- Abi-Dargham, A., Xu, X., Thompson, J. L., Gil, R., Kegeles, L. S., Urban, N., ... Slifstein, M. (2012). Increased prefrontal cortical D1 receptors in drug naive patients with schizophrenia: a PET study with ["C]NNC112. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 26(6), 794–805.
- Ackerly, S. (1935). Instinctive, emotional and mental changes following prefrontal lobe extirpation. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *92*, 717–729.
- Akbarian, S., & Huang, H.-S. (2006). Molecular and cellular mechanisms of altered GAD1/GAD67 expression in schizophrenia and related disorders. *Brain Research Reviews*, 52(2), 293–304.
- Albert, K. A., Hemmings Jr, H. C., Adamo, A. I., Potkin, S. G., Akbarian, S., Sandman, C. A., ... Greengard, P. (2002). Evidence for Decreased DARPP-32 in the Prefrontal Cortex of Patients With Schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(8), 705–712.

- Alexander, G. E., DeLong, M. R., & Strick, P. L. (1986). Parallel Organization of Functionally Segregated Circuits Linking Basal Ganglia and Cortex. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 9, 357–381.
- Allen, N. C., Bagade, S., McQueen, M. B., Ioannidis, J. P. A., Kavvoura, F. K., Khoury, M. J., ... Bertram, L. (2008). Systematic meta-analyses and field synopsis of genetic association studies in schizophrenia: the SzGene database. *Nature Genetics*, 40(7), 827–834.
- Altamura, M., Elvevåg, B., Goldberg, T. E., Carver, F. W., Weinberger, D. R., & Coppola, R. (2016). The impact of Val108/158Met polymorphism of catechol-O-methyltransferase on brain oscillations during working memory. *Neuroscience Letters*, 610, 86–91.
- Altamura, M., Goldberg, T. E., Elvevåg, B., Holroyd, T., Carver, F. W., Weinberger, D. R., & Coppola, R. (2010). Prefrontal Cortex Modulation during Anticipation of Working Memory Demands as Revealed by Magnetoencephalography. *International Journal of Biomedical Imaging*, 2010, 840416.
- American Psychiatric Association: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington, VA, American Psychiatric Association, 2013.
- Andreasen, N. C. (2014). A Unitary Model of Schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *56*(9), 781–787.
- Andreasen, N. C., & Carpenter Jr., W. T. (1993). Diagnosis and Classification of Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 19(2), 199–214.
- Andreasen, N. C., Pressler, M., Nopoulos, P., Miller, D., & Ho, B.-C. (2010).
 Antipsychotic Dose Equivalents and Dose-Years: A Standardized Method for Comparing Exposure to Different Drugs. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(3), 255–262.
- Andreasen, N. C., Nopoulos, P., Magnotta, V., Pierson, R., Ziebell, S., & Ho, B.-C.
 (2011). Progressive Brain Change in Schizophrenia: A Prospective Longitudinal Study of First-Episode Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(7), 672–679.
- Andreasen, N., Nasrallah, H. A., Dunn, V., Olson, S. C., Grove, W. M., Ehrhardt, J. C., ... Crossett, J. H. W. (1986). Structural Abnormalities in the Frontal System in Schizophrenia: A Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. Archives of General Psychiatry, 43(2), 136–144.

- Anticevic, A., Cole, M. W., Repovs, G., Murray, J. D., Brumbaugh, M. S., Winkler, A. M., ... Glahn, D. C. (2013). Characterizing Thalamo-Cortical Disturbances in Schizophrenia and Bipolar Illness. *Cerebral Cortex*, (1), 1–15.
- Apud, J. A., Mattay, V., Chen, J., Kolachana, B. S., Callicott, J. H., Rasetti, R., ... Weinberger, D. R. (2007). Tolcapone Improves Cognition and Cortical Information Processing in Normal Human Subjects. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32(5), 1011–1020.
- Arnsten, A. F. T. (2013). The Neurobiology of Thought: The Groundbreaking Discoveries of Patricia Goldman-Rakic 1937-2003. *Cerebral Cortex*, 23(10), 2269–2281.
- Arnsten, A. F. T., Wang, M., & Paspalas, C. D. (2015). Dopamine's Actions in Primate Prefrontal Cortex: Challenges for Treating Cognitive Disorders. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 67(3), 681–696.
- Attwell, D., Buchan, A., Charpak, S., Lauritzen, M., MacVicar, B., & Newman, E. (2010). Glial and neuronal control of brain blood flow. *Nature*, *468*, 232–243.
- Avants, B. B., Tustison, N. J., Song, G., Cook, P. A., Klein, A., & Gee, J. C. (2011). A reproducible evaluation of ANTs similarity metric performance in brain image registration. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 2033–2044.
- Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. J. (1974). Working memory. In G. A. Bower (Ed.), *The Psychology of Learning and Motivation* (Vol. 8, pp. 47–89). New York: Academic Press.
- Baddeley, A., & Della Sala, S. (1996). Working memory and executive control. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 351(1346), 1397–1404.
- Baier, B., Karnath, H. O., Dieterich, M., Birklein, F., Heinze, C., & Muller, N. G. (2010). Keeping Memory Clear and Stable—The Contribution of Human Basal Ganglia and Prefrontal Cortex to Working Memory. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(29), 9788–9792.
- Ban, T. A. (2007). Fifty years chlorpromazine: A historical perspective. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 3(4), 495–500.
- Barr, M. S., Farzan, F., Tran, L. C., Chen, R., Fitzgerald, P. B., & Daskalakis, Z. J. (2010). Evidence for excessive frontal evoked gamma oscillatory activity in schizophrenia during working memory. *Schizophrenia Research*, 121(1), 146– 152.

- Barr, M. S., Farzan, F., Rusjan, P. M., Chen, R., Fitzgerald, P. B., & Daskalakis, Z. J. (2009). Potentiation of Gamma Oscillatory Activity through Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation of the Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34(11), 2359–2367.
- Basar-Eroglu, C., Brand, A., Hildebrandt, H., Karolina Kedzior, K., Mathes, B., & Schmiedt, C. (2007). Working memory related gamma oscillations in schizophrenia patients. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, *64*(1), 39–45.
- Bashivan, P., Bidelman, G. M., & Yeasin, M. (2014). Spectrotemporal dynamics of the EEG during working memory encoding and maintenance predicts individual behavioral capacity. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 40(12), 3774– 3784.
- Batel, P., Houchi, H., Daoust, M., Ramoz, N., Naassila, M., & Gorwood, P. (2008). A Haplotype of the DRD1 Gene Is Associated With Alcohol Dependence. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 32(4), 567–572.
- Berger, B., Trottier, S., Verney, C., Gaspar, P., & Alvarez, C. (1988). Regional and Laminar Distribution of the Dopamine and Serotonin Innervation in the Macaque Cerebral Cortex: A Radioautographic Study. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 273(1), 99–119.
- Berger, H. (1929). Uber das Elektrenkephalogramm des Menschen. Archiv Für Psychiatrie and Nervenkrankheiten, 87(1), 527–570.
- Berman, K. F. (2002). Functional Neuroimaging in Schizophrenia. In K. L. Davis, D. Charney, J. T. Coyle, & C. Nemeroff (Eds.), *Neuropsychopharmacology: The Fifth Generation of Progress* (pp. 745–756). Philadelpha, Pennsylvania: Lippincott, Williams, & Wilkins.
- Berman, K. F., Illowsky, B. P., & Weinberger, D. R. (1988). Physiological Dysfunction of Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex in Schizophrenia. IV. Further Evidence for Regional and Behavioral Specificity. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 45(7), 616–622.
- Bianchi, L. (1922). *The mechanism of the brain and the function of the frontal lobes, translated by J. H. MacDonald*. New York: William Wood & Company.
- Bittner, R. A., Linden, D. E. J., Roebroeck, A., Härtling, F., Rotarska-Jagiela, A., Maurer, K., ... Haenschel, C. (2015). The When and Where of Working Memory Dysfunction in Early-Onset Schizophrenia—A Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(9), 2494–2506.

- Björklund, A., & Dunnett, S. B. (2007). Dopamine neuron systems in the brain: an update. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 30(5), 194–202.
- Bleuler, E. (1911). *Dementia Praecox oder Gruppe der Schizophrenien*. Leipzig, Germany: Deuticke.
- Bonnefond, M., & Jensen, O. (2012). Alpha Oscillations Serve to Protect Working Memory Maintenance against Anticipated Distracters. *Current Biology*, 22(20), 1969–1974.
- Brookes, M. J., Wood, J. R., Stevenson, C. M., Zumer, J. M., White, T. P., Liddle, P. F., & Morris, P. G. (2011). Changes in brain network activity during working memory tasks: a magnetoencephalography study. *NeuroImage*, 55(4), 1804–1815.
- Brown, P., Oliviero, A., Mazzone, P., Insola, A., Tonali, P., & Di Lazzaro, V. (2001). Dopamine Dependency of Oscillations between Subthalamic Nucleus and Pallidum in Parkinson's Disease. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *21*(3), 1033–1038.
- Brown, R. Mac, & Goldman, P. S. (1977). Catecholamines in neocortex of rhesus monkeys: regional distribution and ontogenetic development. *Brain Research*, 124(3), 576–580.
- Brozoski, T. J., Brown, R. M., Rosvold, H. E., & Goldman, P. S. (1979). Cognitive Deficit Caused by Regional Depletion of Dopamine in Prefrontal Cortex of Rhesus Monkey. *Science*, 205(4409), 929–932.
- Buzsáki, G. (2009). *Rhythms of the Brain. Rhythms of the Brain*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Buzsáki, G. (2002). Theta Oscillations in the Hippocampus. Neuron, 33(3), 325–340.
- Bymaster, F. P., Calligaro, D. O., Falcone, J. F., Marsh, R. D., Moore, N. A., Tye, N. C., ... Wong, D. T. (1996). Radioreceptor Binding Profile of the Atypical Antipsychotic Olanzapine. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 14(2), 87–96.
- Callicott, J. H., Bertolino, A., Mattay, V. S., Langheim, F. J., Duyn, J., Coppola, R., ... Weinberger, D. R. (2000). Physiological Dysfunction of the Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex in Schizophrenia Revisited. *Cerebral Cortex*, 10(11), 1078– 1092.
- Callicott, J. H., Mattay, V. S., Bertolino, A., Finn, K., Coppola, R., Frank, J. A., ... Weinberger, D. R. (1999). Physiological Characteristics of Capacity

Constraints in Working Memory as Revealed by Functional MRI. *Cerebral Cortex*, *9*(1), 20–26.

- Callicott, J. H., Mattay, V. S., Verchinski, B. A., Marenco, S., Egan, M. F., & Weinberger, D. R. (2003). Complexity of prefrontal cortical dysfunction in schizophrenia: more than up or down. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *16*0(12), 2209–2215.
- Callicott, J. H., Ramsey, N. F., Tallent, K., Bertolino, A., Knable, M. B., Coppola, R.,
 ... Weinberger, D. R. (1998). Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Brain
 Mapping in Psychiatry: Methodological Issues Illustrated in a Study of
 Working Memory in Schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 18(3), 186–196.
- Cannon, T. D., Glahn, D. C., Kim, J., Erp, T. G. M. Van, Karlsgodt, K., Cohen, M. S.,
 ... Shirinyan, D. (2005). Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex Activity During
 Maintenance and Manipulation of Information in Working Memory in
 Patients With Schizophrenia. Archives of General Psychiatry, 62(10), 1071–1080.
- Canuet, L., Ishii, R., Iwase, M., Ikezawa, K., Kurimoto, R., Takahashi, H., ... Takeda, M. (2010). Working memory abnormalities in chronic interictal epileptic psychosis and schizophrenia revealed by magnetoencephalography. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, *17*(1), 109–119.
- Cardin, J. A., Carlén, M., Meletis, K., Knoblich, U., Zhang, F., Deisseroth, K., ... Moore, C. I. (2009). Driving fast-spiking cells induces gamma rhythm and controls sensory responses. *Nature*, *459*(7247), 663–667.
- Carlén, M., Meletis, K., Siegle, J. H., Cardin, J. a, Futai, K., Vierling-Claassen, D., ... Tsai, L.-H. (2012). A critical role for NMDA receptors in parvalbumin interneurons for gamma rhythm induction and behavior. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17(5), 537–48.
- Carter, C. S., Perlstein, W., Ganguli, R., Brar, J., Mintun, M., & Cohen, J. D. (1998). Functional Hypofrontality and Working Memory Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 155(9), 1285–1287.
- Catafau, A. M., Searle, G. E., Bullich, S., Gunn, R. N., Rabiner, E. A., Herance, R., ... Laruelle, M. (2010). Imaging cortical dopamine D1 receptors using [11C]NNC112 and ketanserin blockade of the 5-HT 2A receptors. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, 30(5), 985–993.

- Chen, C.-M. A., Stanford, A. D., Mao, X., Abi-Dargham, A., Shungu, D. C., Lisanby, S. H., ... Kegeles, L. S. (2014). GABA level, gamma oscillation, and working memory performance in schizophrenia. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, *4*, 531–539.
- Cho, R. Y., Konecky, R. O., & Carter, C. S. (2006). Impairments in frontal cortical gamma synchrony and cognitive control in schizophrenia. *PNAS*, *103*(52), 19878–83.
- Cichon, S., Nothen, M. M., Erdmann, J., & Propping, P. (1994). Detection of four polymorphic sites in the human dopamine D1 receptor gene (DRD1). *Human Molecular Genetics*, *3*(1), 209.
- Cichon, S., Nöthen, M. M., Rietschel, M., Körner, J., & Propping, P. (1994). Single-Strand Conformation Analysis (SSCA) of the Dopamine D 1 Receptor Gene (DRD1) Reveals No Significant Mutation in Patients with Schizophrenia and Manic Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 36(12), 850–853.
- Cohen, D. (1968). Magnetoencephalography: Evidence of Magnetic Fields Produced by Alpha-Rhythm Currents. *Science*, *161*(3843), 784–786.
- Cohen, J., Perlstein, W., & Braver, T. (1997). Temporal dynamics of brain activation during a working memory task. *Nature*, *386*(10), 604–608.
- Cohen, J. D., Forman, S. D., Braver, T. S., Casey, B. J., Servan-schreiber, D., & Noll, D. C. (1994). Activation of the Prefrontal Cortex in a Nonspatial Working Memory Task With Functional MRI. *Human Brain Mapping*, *1*(4), 293–304.
- Cools, R., & D'Esposito, M. (2011). Inverted-U-shaped dopamine actions on human working memory and cognitive control. *Biological Psychiatry*, *69*(12), e113–e125.
- Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: Software for Analysis and Visualization of Functional Magnetic Resonance Neuroimages. *Computers and Biomedical Research*, 29(3), 162–173.
- Creese, I., Burt, D. R., & Snyder, S. H. (1976). Dopamine Receptor Binding Predicts Clinical and Pharmacological Potencies of Antischizophrenic Drugs. *Science*, 192(4238), 481–483.
- Dandash, O., Pantelis, C., & Fornito, A. (2016). Dopamine, fronto-striato-thalamic circuits and risk for psychosis. *Schizophrenia Research*, 180, 48–57.

- Darki, F., & Klingberg, T. (2015). The Role of Fronto-Parietal and Fronto-Striatal Networks in the Development of Working Memory: A Longitudinal Study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(6), 1587–1595.
- Davis, K. L., Kahn, R. S., Ko, G., & Davidson, M. (1991). Dopamine in Schizophrenia: A Review and Reconceptualization. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *148*(11), 1474–1486.
- Delaneau, O., & Marchini, J. (2014). Integrating sequence and array data to create an improved 1000 Genomes Project haplotype reference panel. *Nature Communications*, 5, 3934.
- Dmitrzak-Weglarz, M., Rybakowski, J. K., Slopien, A., Czerski, P. M., Leszczynska-Rodziewicz, A., Kapelski, P., ... Hauser, J. (2006). Dopamine Receptor D 1 Gene -48A/G Polymorphism Is Associated with Bipolar Illness but Not with Schizophrenia in a Polish Population. *Neuropsychobiology*, 53(1), 46–50.
- Driesen, N. R., Leung, H.-C., Calhoun, V. D., Constable, R. T., Gueorguieva, R., Hoffman, R., ... Krystal, J. H. (2008). Impairment of Working Memory Maintenance and Response in Schizophrenia: Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Evidence. *Biological Psychiatry*, 64(12), 1026–1034.
- Durstewitz, D., & Seamans, J. K. (2008). The Dual-State Theory of Prefrontal Cortex Dopamine Function with Relevance to Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Genotypes and Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 64(9), 739–749.
- Egan, M. F., Goldberg, T. E., Kolachana, B. S., Callicott, J. H., Mazzanti, C. M., Straub, R. E., ... Weinberger, D. R. (2001). Effect of COMT Valio8/158 Met genotype on frontal lobe function and risk for schizophrenia. *PNAS*, *98*(12), 6917–6922.
- Eggers, A. E. (2013). A serotonin hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Medical Hypotheses*, 80(6), 791–794.
- Eisenberg, D. P., & Berman, K. F. (2010). Executive Function, Neural Circuitry, and Genetic Mechanisms in Schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(1), 258–277.
- Elvevåg, B., & Goldberg, T. (2000). Cognitive Impairment in Schizophrenia is the Core of the Disorder. *Critical Reviews*TM in Neurobiology, 14(1), 1–21.
- Fallon, J. H., Opole, I. O., & Potkin, S. G. (2003). The neuroanatomy of schizophrenia: circuitry and neurotransmitter systems. *Clinical Neuroscience Research*, 3(1–2), 77–107.

- Farah, A. (2005). Atypicality of Atypical Antipsychotics. *Primary Care Companion to the Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 7(6), 268–274.
- Fatouros-Bergman, H., Cervenka, S., Flyckt, L., Edman, G., & Farde, L. (2014). Meta-analysis of cognitive performance in drug-naïve patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, *158*(1–3), *156–162*.
- Feige, B., Scheffler, K., Esposito, F., Di Salle, F., Hennig, J., & Seifritz, E. (2005). Cortical and Subcortical Correlates of Electroencephalographic Alpha Rhythm Modulation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 93(5), 2864–2872.
- Ferrier, D. (1873). Experimental Researches in Cerebral Physiology and Pathology. *Journal of Anatomy and Physiology*, 8(Pt 1), 152–155.
- First, M., Gibbon, M., Spitzer, R., & Williams, J. (1996). User's Guide for the SCID-I for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders - Research Version. New York: Biometrics Research.
- Franzén, G., & Ingvar, D. H. (1975). Abnormal distribution of cerebral activity in chronic schizophrenia. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *12*, 199–214.
- Freeman, W., & Watts, J. W. (1939). An interpretation of the functions of the frontal lobe: based on observations in fourty-eight cases of prefrontal lobotomy. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 11(5), 527–539.
- Fries, P., Reynolds, J. H., Rorie, A. E., & Desimone, R. (2001). Modulation of Oscillatory Neuronal Synchronization by Selective Visual Attention. *Science*, 291(5508), 1560–1563.
- Funahashi, S., Bruce, C. J., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1989). Mnemonic Coding of Visual Space in the Monkey's Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 61(2), 331–349.
- Fuster, J. M. (1973). Unit Activity in Prefrontal Cortex During Delayed-Response Performance: Neuronal Correlates of Transient Memory. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *36*(1), 61–78.
- Fuster, J., & Alexander, G. (1971). Neuron Activity Related to Short-Term Memory. *Science*, *173*(3997), 652–654.
- Gale, A., Jones, D. M., & Smallbone, A. (1974). Short term memory and the EEG. *Nature*, *248*(447), 439–440.

- Gazzaley, A., Rissman, J., & D'Esposito, M. (2004). Functional connectivity during working memory maintenance. *Cognitive, Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience*, 4(4), 580–599.
- Gevins, A., Smith, M. E., McEvoy, L., & Yu, D. (1997). High-resolution EEG Mapping of Cortical Activation Related to Working Memory: Effects of Task Difficulty, Type of Processing, and Practice. *Cerebral Cortex*, 7(4), 374–385.
- Gibbs, S. E. B., & D'Esposito, M. (2005). A functional MRI study of the effects of bromocriptine, a dopamine receptor agonist, on component processes of working memory. *Psychopharmacology*, *1*80(4), 644–653.
- Girgis, R., Van Snellenberg, J., Kegeles, L., Gil, R., Sharif, Z., Thompson, J., ... Lieberman, J. (2014). A proof of concept, randomized clinical trial of DAR-0100a, a dopamine-1 receptor agonist, for cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39, S370.
- Glabus, M. F., Horwitz, B., Holt, J. H., Kohn, P. D., Gerton, B. K., Callicott, J. H., ... Berman, K. F. (2003). Interindividual Differences in Functional Interactions among Prefrontal, Parietal and Parahippocampal Regions during Working Memory. *Cerebral Cortex*, 13(12), 1352–1361.
- Glahn, D. C., Kim, J., Cohen, M. S., Poutanen, V. P., Therman, S., Bava, S., ... Cannon, T. D. (2002). Maintenance and manipulation in spatial working memory: dissociations in the prefrontal cortex. *NeuroImage*, 17(1), 201–213.
- Glahn, D. C., Ragland, J. D., Abramoff, A., Barrett, J., Laird, A. R., Bearden, C. E., & Velligan, D. I. (2005). Beyond Hypofrontality: A Quantitative Meta-Analysis of Functional Neuroimaging Studies of Working Memory in Schizophrenia. *Human Brain Mapping*, 25(1), 60–69.
- Godsil, B. P., Kiss, J. P., Spedding, M., & Jay, T. M. (2013). The hippocampalprefrontal pathway: the weak link in psychiatric disorders? *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(10), 1165–1181.
- Goldman, P., & Rosvold, H. (1970). Localization of Function Within the Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex of the Rhesus Monkey. *Experimental Neurology*, 27(2), 291–304.
- Goldman-Rakic, P. S., Lidow, M. S., & Gallager, D. W. (1990). Overlap of Dopaminergic, Adrenergic, and Serotoninergic Receptors and Complementarity of Their Subtypes in Primate Prefrontal Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 10(7), 2125–2138.

- Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1994). Working Memory Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 6(4), 348–357.
- Goldman-Rakic, P. S., & Selemon, L. D. (1997). Functional and Anatomical Aspects of Prefrontal Pathology in Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 23(3), 437– 458.
- Goldstein, J. (2000). The new generation of antipsychotic drugs: how atypical are they? *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 3(4), 339–349.
- Gonzalez-Burgos, G., Fish, K. N., & Lewis, D. a. (2011). GABA Neuron Alterations, Cortical Circuit Dysfunction and Cognitive Deficits in Schizophrenia. *Neural Plasticity*, 2011, 1–24.
- Grace, A. A. (1991). Phasic versus tonic dopamine release and the modulation of dopamine system responsivity: A hypothesis for the etiology of schizophrenia. *Neuroscience*, *41*(1), 1–24.
- Graffelman, J. (2015). Exploring Diallelic Genetic Markers: The HardyWeinberg package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *64*(3), 1–23.
- Gray, C., König, P., Engel, A., & Singer, W. (1989). Oscillatory responses in cat visual cortex exhibit inter-columnar synchronization which reflects global stimulus properties. *Nature*, 338(6213), 334–337.
- Green, M. (1996). What Are the Functional Consequences of Neurocognitive Deficits in Schizophrenia? *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153(3), 321–330.
- Gur, R. E., Calkins, M. E., Gur, R. C., Horan, W. P., Nuechterlein, K. H., Seidman, L. J., & Stone, W. S. (2007). The Consortium on the Genetics of Schizophrenia: Neurocognitive Endophenotypes. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 33(1), 49–68.
- Gurvich, C., Bozaoglu, K., Neill, E., Van Rheenen, T. E., Tan, E. J., Louise, S., & Rossell, S. L. (2016). The dopamine D1 receptor gene is associated with negative schizotypy in a non-clinical sample. *Psychiatry Research*, 235, 213–214.
- Haenschel, C., Bittner, R. A., Waltz, J., Haertling, F., Wibral, M., Singer, W., ...
 Rodriguez, E. (2009). Cortical Oscillatory Activity Is Critical for Working
 Memory as Revealed by Deficits in Early-Onset Schizophrenia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(30), 9481–9489.
- Haijma, S. V, Van Haren, N., Cahn, W., Koolschijn, P. C. M. P., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., & Kahn, R. S. (2012). Brain Volumes in Schizophrenia: A Meta-Analysis in Over 18 000 Subjects. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 39(5), 1129–1138.

- Hämäläinen, M. S., Hari, R., Ilmoniemi, R. J., Knuutila, J., & Lounasmaa, O. V. (1993). Magnetoencephalography theory, instrumentation, and applications to noninvasive studies of the working human brain. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 65(2), 413–505.
- Harlow, J. M. (1868). Recovery from the passage of an iron bar through the head. *Publ Mass Med Soc*, 2(2), 327–347.
- Harvey, P. D., & Keefe, R. S. E. (2001). Studies of Cognitive Change in Patients With Schizophrenia Following Novel Antipsychotic Treatment. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158(2), 176–184.
- Hashimoto, R., Straub, R. E., Weickert, C. S., Hyde, T. M., Kleinman, J. E., & Weinberger, D. R. (2004). Expression analysis of neuregulin-1 in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 9(3), 299–307.
- Hashimoto, T., Volk, D. W., Eggan, S. M., Mirnics, K., Pierri, J. N., Sun, Z., ... Lewis, D. A. (2003). Gene Expression Deficits in a Subclass of GABA Neurons in the Prefrontal Cortex of Subjects with Schizophrenia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(15), 6315–6326.
- Heinrichs-Graham, E., & Wilson, T. W. (2015). Spatiotemporal oscillatory dynamics during the encoding and maintenance phases of a visual working memory task. *Cortex*, *69*, 121–130.
- Honey, G. D., Bullmore, E. T., Soni, W., Varatheesan, M., Williams, S. C. R., & Sharma, T. (1999). Differences in frontal cortical activation by a working memory task after substitution of risperidone for typical antipsychotic drugs in patients with schizophrenia. *PNAS*, 96(23), 13432–13437.
- Howard, M. W., Rizzuto, D. S., Caplan, J. B., Madsen, J. R., Lisman, J., Aschenbrenner-Scheibe, R., ... Kahana, M. J. (2003). Gamma Oscillations Correlate with Working Memory Load in Humans. *Cerebral Cortex*, 13(12), 1369–1374.
- Howes, O. D., McCutcheon, R., Owen, M. J., & Murray, R. M. (2017). The Role of Genes, Stress, and Dopamine in the Development of Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, *81*(1), 9–20.
- Howes, O. D., & Kapur, S. (2009). The Dopamine Hypothesis of Schizophrenia: Version III—The Final Common Pathway. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 35(3), 549– 562.

- Howie, B. N., Donnelly, P., & Marchini, J. (2009). A Flexible and Accurate Genotype Imputation Method for the Next Generation of Genome-Wide Association Studies. *PLoS Genetics*, 5(6), e1000529.
- Huang, L., Li, Y., Singleton, A. B., Hardy, J. A., Abecasis, G., Rosenberg, N. A., & Scheet, P. (2009). Genotype-Imputation Accuracy across Worldwide Human Populations. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 84(2), 235–250.
- Huang, W., Ma, J. Z., Payne, T. J., Beuten, J., Dupont, R. T., & Li, M. D. (2008). Significant association of DRD1 with nicotine dependence. *Human Genetics*, *123*(2), 133–140.
- Hyde, T. M., Lipska, B. K., Ali, T., Mathew, S. V, Law, A. J., Metitiri, O. E., ... Kleinman, J. E. (2011). Expression of GABA Signaling Molecules KCC2, NKCC1, and GAD1 in Cortical Development and Schizophrenia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(30), 11088–11095.
- Ince, N. F., Pellizzer, G., Tewfik, A. H., Nelson, K., Leuthold, A., McClannahan, K., & Stephane, M. (2009). Classification of schizophrenia with spectro-temporospatial MEG patterns in working memory. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(6), 1123–1134.
- Jacob, S. N., Stalter, M., & Nieder, A. (2016). Cell-type-specific modulation of targets and distractors by dopamine D1 receptors in primate prefrontal cortex. *Nature Communications*, 13218.
- Jacobsen, C. (1936). Functions of frontal association area in primates. *Comparitive Psychology Monographs*, *1*3(3), 1–60.
- Jensen, O., Goel, P., Kopell, N., Pohja, M., Hari, R., & Ermentrout, B. (2005). On the human sensorimotor-cortex beta rhythm: sources and modeling. *NeuroImage*, 26(2), 347–355.
- Jensen, O., Gelfand, J., Kounios, J., & Lisman, J. E. (2002). Oscillations in the Alpha Band (9–12 Hz) Increase with Memory Load during Retention in a Short-term Memory Task. *Cerebral Cortex*, 12(8), 877–882.
- Jensen, O., Kaiser, J., & Lachaux, J.-P. (2007). Human gamma-frequency oscillations associated with attention and memory. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 30(7), 317–324.
- Jonides, J., Smith, E., Koeppe, R., & Awh, E. (1993). Spatial working-memory in humans as revealed by PET. *Nature*, *363*(17), 623–625.

- Kaalund, S. S., Newburn, E. N., Ye, T., Tao, R., Li, C., Deep-Soboslay, A., ...
 Kleinman, J. E. (2014). Contrasting changes in DRD1 and DRD2 splice variant expression in schizophrenia and affective disorders, and associations with SNPs in postmortem brain. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 19(12), 1258–1266.
- Kay, S., Fiszbein, A., & Opler, L. (1987). The Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) for Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 13(2), 261–276.
- Keefe, R. S., Bilder, R. M., Davis, S. M., Harvey, P. D., Palmer, B. W., Gold, J. M., ... Lieberman, J. A. (2007). Neurocognitive Effects of Antipsychotic Medications in Patients With Chronic Schizophrenia in the CATIE Trial. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64(6), 633–647.
- Kegeles, L. S., Mao, X., Stanford, A. D., Girgis, R., Ojeil, N., Xu, X., ... Shungu, D. C. (2012). Elevated Prefrontal Cortex γ-Aminobutyric Acid and Glutamate-Glutamine Levels in Schizophrenia Measured In Vivo With Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. Archives of General Psychiatry, 69(5), 449–459.
- Kestler, L. P., Walker, E., & Vega, E. M. (2001). Dopamine receptors in the brains of schizophrenia patients: a meta-analysis of the findings. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 12(5), 355–371.
- Khursheed, F., Tandon, N., Tertel, K., Pieters, T. A., Disano, M. A., & Ellmore, T. M. (2011). Frequency-specific electrocorticographic correlates of working memory delay period fMRI activity. *NeuroImage*, 56(3), 1773–1782.
- Kimberg, D. Y., Aguirre, G. K., Lease, J., & D'Esposito, M. (2001). Cortical Effects of Bromocriptine, a D-2 Dopamine Receptor Agonist, in Human Subjects, Revealed by fMRI. *Human Brain Mapping*, 12(4), 246–257.
- Knöchel, C., Stäblein, M., Prvulovic, D., Ghinea, D., Wenzler, S., Pantel, J., ... Oertel-Knöchel, V. (2016). Shared and distinct gray matter abnormalities in schizophrenia, schizophrenia relatives and bipolar disorder in association with cognitive impairment. *Schizophrenia Research*, 171(1–3), 140–148.
- Kraepelin, E. (1919). *Dementia Praecox and Paraphrenia (translated by R. Mary Barclay)*. (G. M. Robertson, Ed.) (8th ed.). Edinburgh: E. & S. Livingstone.
- Kröner, S., Krimer, L. S., Lewis, D. A., & Barrionuevo, G. (2007). Dopamine Increases Inhibition in the Monkey Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex through Cell Type-Specific Modulation of Interneurons. *Cerebral Cortex*, 17(5), 1020– 1032.

- Lee, J. H., Whittington, M. A., & Kopell, N. J. (2013). Top-Down Beta Rhythms Support Selective Attention via Interlaminar Interaction: A Model. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 9(8), e1003164.
- Lee, J., Folley, B. S., Gore, J., & Park, S. (2008). Origins of Spatial Working Memory Deficits in Schizophrenia: An Event-Related fMRI and Near-Infrared Spectroscopy Study. *PLoS ONE*, *3*(3), e1760.
- Lee, J., & Park, S. (2005). Working Memory Impairments in Schizophrenia: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 114(4), 599–611.
- Leiberg, S., Lutzenberger, W., & Kaiser, J. (2006). Effects of memory load on cortical oscillatory activity during auditory pattern working memory. *Brain Research*, 1120(1), 131–140.
- Lewis, D. A., Cruz, D. A., Melchitzky, D. S., & Pierri, J. N. (2001). Lamina-Specific Deficits in Parvalbumin-Immunoreactive Varicosities in the Prefrontal Cortex of Subjects With Schizophrenia: Evidence for Fewer Projections From the Thalamus. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*(9), 1411–1422.
- Lewis, D. A., Curley, A. A., Glausier, J. R., & Volk, D. W. (2012). Cortical parvalbumin interneurons and cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 35(1), 57–67.
- Lewis, D. A., Hashimoto, T., & Volk, D. W. (2005). Cortical inhibitory neurons and schizophrenia. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience*, 6(4), 312–324.
- Lidow, M. S., Goldman-Rakic, P. S., Rakic, P., & Innis, R. B. (1989). Dopamine D2 receptors in the cerebral cortex: Distribution and pharmacological characterization with [3H]raclopride. *PNAS*, 86(16), 6412–6416.
- Liu, S.-K., Fitzgerald, P. B., Daigle, M., Chen, R., & Daskalakis, Z. J. (2009). The Relationship Between Cortical Inhibition, Antipsychotic Treatment, and the Symptoms of Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 65(6), 503–509.
- Logothetis, N. K., Pauls, J., Augath, M., Trinath, T., & Oeltermann, A. (2001). Neurophysiological investigation of the basis of the fMRI signal. *Nature*, *412*(6843), 150-157.
- Lopes da Silva, F. (2013). EEG and MEG: Relevance to Neuroscience. *Neuron*, 80(5), 1112–1128.

- Lorincz, M. L., Kékesi, K. A., Juhász, G., Crunelli, V., & Hughes, S. W. (2009). Temporal framing of thalamic relay-mode firing by phasic inhibition during the alpha rhythm. *Neuron*, 63(5), 683–696.
- Luca, P., Laurin, N., Misener, V. L., Wigg, K. G., Anderson, B., Cate-Carter, T., ... Barr, C. L. (2007). Association of the dopamine receptor D1 gene, DRD1, with inattention symptoms in families selected for reading problems. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *1*2(8), 776–785.
- Lundqvist, M., Rose, J., Herman, P., Brincat, S. L. L., Buschman, T. J. J., & Miller, E. K. K. (2016). Gamma and Beta Bursts Underlie Working Memory. *Neuron*, 90(1), 152–164.
- Mainy, N., Kahane, P., Minotti, L., Hoffmann, D., Bertrand, O., & Lachaux, J.-P. (2007). Neural Correlates of Consolidation in Working Memory. *Human Brain Mapping*, 28(3), 183–193.
- Manoach, D. S., Press, D. Z., Thangaraj, V., Searl, M. M., Goff, D. C., Halpern, E., ... Warach, S. (1999). Schizophrenic Subjects Activate Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex during a Working Memory Task, as Measured by fMRI. *Biological Psychiatry*, 45(9), 1128–1137.
- Marenco, S., Stein, J. L., Savostyanova, A. a, Sambataro, F., Tan, H.-Y., Goldman, A. L., ... Weinberger, D. R. (2012). Investigation of Anatomical Thalamo-Cortical Connectivity and fMRI Activation in Schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(2), 499–507.
- Marrosu, F., Santoni, F., Fà, M., Puligheddu, M., Barberini, L., Genugu, F., ... Mereu, G. (2006). Beta and gamma range EEG power-spectrum correlation with spiking discharges in DBA/2J mice absence model: role of GABA receptors. *Epilepsia*, 47(3), 489–494.
- Mattay, V. S., Goldberg, T. E., Fera, F., Hariri, A. R., Tessitore, A., Egan, M. F., ... Weinberger, D. R. (2003). Catechol O-methyltransferase val158-met genotype and individual variation in the brain response to amphetamine. *PNAS*, 100(10), 6186–6191.
- McCarthy, G., Puce, A., Constable, R. T., Krystal, J. H., Gore, J. C., & Goldman-Rakic, P. (1996). Activation of Human Prefrontal Cortex during Spatial and Nonspatial Working Memory Tasks Measured by Functional MRI. *Cerebral Cortex*, 6(4), 600–611.

- Meador-Woodruff, J. H., Damask, S., Wang, J., Havoutunian, V., Davis, K. L., & Watson, S. (1996). Dopamine in Human Receptor mRNA Expression Striatum and Neocortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *15*(1), 17–29.
- Meltzer, H. Y., & McGurk, S. R. (1999). The Effects of Clozapine, Risperidone, and Olanzapine on Cognitive Function in Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 25(2), 233–255.
- Mendrek, A., Kiehl, K., & Smith, A. (2005). Dysfunction of a distributed neural circuitry in schizophrenia patients during a working-memory performance. *Psychological Medicine*, 35(2), 187–196.
- Mendrek, A., Laurens, K. R., Kiehl, K. A., Ngan, E. T., Stip, E., & Liddle, P. F. (2004). Changes in distributed neural circuitry function in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *18*5, 205–214.
- Mesulam, M.-M. (1986). Frontal Cortex and Behavior. *Annals of Neurology*, 19(4), 320-325.
- Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Miletich, R. S., Kohn, P. D., Esposito, G., Carson, R. E., Quarantelli, M., ... Berman, K. F. (2002). Reduced prefrontal activity predicts exaggerated striatal dopaminergic function in schizophrenia. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(3), 267–271.
- Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Olsen, R., Kohn, P., Brown, T., Egan, M., Weinberger, D., & Berman, K. (2005). Regionally Specific Disturbance of Dorsolateral Prefrontal– Hippocampal Functional Connectivity in Schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(4), 379–386.
- Minzenberg, M., & Laird, A. (2009). Meta-analysis of 41 Functional Neuroimaging Studies of Executive Function in Schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(8), 811–822.
- Mizrahi, R., Addington, J., Rusjan, P. M., Suridjan, I., Ng, A., Boileau, I., ... Wilson,
 A. A. (2012). Increased Stress-Induced Dopamine Release in Psychosis.
 Biological Psychiatry, 71(6), 561–567.
- Moghaddam, B., & Javitt, D. (2012). From Revolution to Evolution: The Glutamate Hypothesis of Schizophrenia and its Implication for Treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(1), 4–15.
- Moskowitz, A., & Heim, G. (2011). Eugen Bleuler's Dementia Praecox or the Group of Schizophrenias (1911): A Centenary Appreciation and Reconsideration. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 37(3), 471–479.

- Mu, Q., Johnson, K., Morgan, P. S., Grenesko, E. L., Molnar, C. E., Anderson, B., ... George, M. S. (2007). A single 20 mg dose of the full D1 dopamine agonist dihydrexidine (DAR-0100) increases prefrontal perfusion in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 94(1), 332–341.
- Müller, U., von Cramon, D. Y., & Pollmann, S. (1998). D1- Versus D2-Receptor Modulation of Visuospatial Working Memory in Humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(7), 2720–2728.
- Muly III, E. C., Szigeti, K., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1998). D1 Receptor in Interneurons of Macaque Prefrontal Cortex: Distribution and Subcellular Localization. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(24), 10553–10565.
- Murakami, S., & Okada, Y. (2006). Contributions of principal neocortical neurons to magnetoencephalography and electroencephalography signals. *The Journal of Physiology*, 575(3), 925–936.
- Murphy, A., Dursun, S., McKie, S., Elliott, R., & Deakin, J. F. W. (2016). An investigation into aripiprazole's partial D2 agonist effects within the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex during working memory in healthy volunteers. *Psychopharmacology*, 233(8), 1415–1426.
- Nakazawa, K., Zsiros, V., Jiang, Z., Nakao, K., Kolata, S., Zhang, S., & Belforte, J. E. (2012). GABAergic interneuron origin of schizophrenia pathophysiology. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(3), 1574–1583.
- Nuechterlein, K. H., Subotnik, K. L., Green, M. F., Ventura, J., Asarnow, R. F., Gitlin, M. J., ... Mintz, J. (2011). Neurocognitive Predictors of Work Outcome in Recent-Onset Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 37 suppl 2(suppl. 2), S33– S40.
- Nyberg, L., Karalija, N., Salami, A., Andersson, M., Kaboovand, N., Axelsson, J., ... Radiology, D. (2016). Dopamine D2 receptor availability is linked to hippocampal-caudate functional connectivity and episodic memory. *PNAS*, 113(28), 7918–7923.
- Okubo, Y., Suhara, T., Suzuki, K., Kobayashi, K., Inoue, O., Terasaki, O., ... Toru, M. (1997). Decreased prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors in schizophrenia revealed by PET. *Nature*, 385(6617), 634-636.
- Olsson, H., Halldin, C., & Farde, L. (2004). Differentiation of extrastriatal dopamine D2 receptor density and affinity in the human brain using PET. *NeuroImage*, 22(2), 794–803.

- Ota, V. K., Spíndola, L. N., Gadelha, A., Santos Filho, A. F. dos, Santoro, M. L., Christofolini, D. M., ... Belangero, S. I. (2012). DRD1 rs4532 polymorphism: A potential pharmacogenomic marker for treatment response to antipsychotic drugs. *Schizophrenia Research*, 142(1-3), 206–208.
- Ott, T., & Nieder, A. (2016). Dopamine D2 Receptors Enhance Population Dynamics in Primate Prefrontal Working Memory Circuits. *Cerebral Cortex*, 1– 13.
- Owen, A. M., McMillan, K. M., Laird, A. R., & Bullmore, E. (2005). N-Back Working Memory Paradigm: A Meta-Analysis of Normative Functional Neuroimaging Studies. *Human Brain Mapping*, *25*(1), 46–59.
- Palva, S., Kulashekhar, S., Hämäläinen, M., & Palva, J. M. (2011). Localization of Cortical Phase and Amplitude Dynamics during Visual Working Memory Encoding and Retention. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(13), 5013–5025.
- Pan, Y., Yao, J., & Wang, B. (2014). Association of dopamine D1 receptor gene polymorphism with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 10, 1133–1139.
- Pantelis, C., Barnes, T. R., Nelson, H. E., Tanner, S., Weatherley, L., Owen, a M., & Robbins, T. W. (1997). Frontal-striatal cognitive deficits in patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Brain*, 120, 1823–1843.
- Park, S., & Holzman, P. S. (1992). Schizophrenics Show Spatial Working Memory Deficits. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 49(12), 975–982.
- Pergola, G., Di Carlo, P., D'Ambrosio, E., Gelao, B., Fazio, L., Papalino, M., ... Bertolino, A. (2017). DRD2 co-expression network and a related polygenic index predict imaging, behavioral and clinical phenotypes linked to schizophrenia. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7(e1006), 1–8.
- Pesonen, M., Björnberg, C. H., Hämäläinen, H., & Krause, C. M. (2006). Brain oscillatory 1-30 Hz EEG ERD/ERS responses during the different stages of an auditory memory search task. *Neuroscience Letters*, 399(1–2), 45–50.
- Petrides, M., Alivisatos, B., Meyer, E., & Evans, a C. (1993). Functional activation of the human frontal cortex during the performance of verbal working memory tasks. *PNAS*, 90(3), 878–882.
- Potkin, S. G., Basile, V. S., Jin, Y., Masellis, M., Badri, F., Keator, D., ... Kennedy, J. L. (2003). D1 receptor alleles predict PET metabolic correlates of clinical response to clozapine. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 8(1), 109–113.

- Potkin, S. G., Turner, J. A., Brown, G. G., McCarthy, G., Greve, D. N., Glover, G. H., ... Lim, K. O. (2009). Working memory and DLPFC inefficiency in schizophrenia: The FBIRN study. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 35(1), 19–31.
- Pycock, C. J., Kerwin, R. W., & Carter, C. J. (1980). Effect of lesion of cortical dopamine terminals on subcortical dopamine receptors in rats. *Nature*, *286*, 74–76.
- R Core Team. (2013). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Raghavachari, S., Kahana, M. J., Rizzuto, D. S., Caplan, J. B., Kirschen, M. P., Bourgeois, B., ... Lisman, J. E. (2001). Gating of Human Theta Oscillations by a Working Memory Task. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *21*(9), 3175–3183.
- Rajkowska, G., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1995). Cytoarchitectonic Definition of Prefrontal Areas in the Normal Human Cortex: II. Variability in Locations of Areas 9 and 46 and Relationship to the Talairach Coordinate System. *Cerebral Cortex*, 5(4), 323–337.
- Rao, S. G., Williams, G. V, & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (2000). Destruction and Creation of Spatial Tuning by Disinhibition: GABAA Blockade of Prefrontal Cortical Neurons Engaged by Working Memory. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(1), 485–494.
- Reichenberg, A., Caspi, A., Harrington, H., Houts, R., Keefe, R. S. E., Murray, R. M., ... Moffitt, T. E. (2010). Static and Dynamic Cognitive Deficits in Childhood Preceding Adult Schizophrenia: A 30-Year Study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *167*(2), 160–169.
- Reilly, J. L., Harris, M. S. H., Keshavan, M. S., & Sweeney, J. A. (2006). Adverse Effects of Risperidone on Spatial Working Memory in First-Episode Schizophrenia. Archives of General Psychiatry, 63(11), 1189–1197.
- Richtand, N. M., Welge, J. A., Logue, A. D., Keck Jr, P. E., Strakowski, S. M., & McNamara, R. K. (2007). Dopamine and Serotonin Receptor Binding and Antipsychotic Efficacy. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32(8), 1715–1726.
- Ripke, S., Neale, B. M., Corvin, A., Walters, J. T. R., Farh, K.-H., Holmans, P. A., ... O'Donovan, M. C. (2014). Biological insights from 108 schizophreniaassociated genetic loci. *Nature*, 511(7510), 421–427.
- Robbins, T. W. (1990). The Case for Frontostriatal Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *16*(3), 391–402.

- Roffman, J. L., Tanner, A. S., Eryilmaz, H., Rodriguez-thompson, A., Silverstein, N.
 J., Ho, N. F., ... Catana, C. (2016). Dopamine D1 signaling organizes network dynamics underlying working memory. *Science Advances*, 2(6), e1501672.
- Rolls, E. T., Loh, M., Deco, G., & Winterer, G. (2008). Computational models of schizophrenia and dopamine modulation in the prefrontal cortex. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *9*(9), 696–709.
- Rosell, D. R., Zaluda, L. C., McClure, M. M., Perez-Rodriguez, M. M., Strike, K. S., Barch, D. M., ... Siever, L. J. (2015). Effects of the D1 Dopamine Receptor Agonist Dihydrexidine (DAR-0100A) on Working Memory in Schizotypal Personality Disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(2), 446–453.
- Roux, F., & Uhlhaas, P. J. (2014). Working memory and neural oscillations: alphagamma versus theta-gamma codes for distinct WM information? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 18(1), 16–25.
- Roux, F., Wibral, M., Mohr, H. M., Singer, W., & Uhlhaas, P. J. (2012). Gamma-Band Activity in Human Prefrontal Cortex Codes for the Number of Relevant Items Maintained in Working Memory. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(36), 12411–12420.
- Rybakowski, J. K., Borkowska, A., Czerski, P. M., Kapelski, P., Dmitrzak-Weglarz, M., & Hauser, J. (2005). An association study of dopamine receptors polymorphisms and the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test in schizophrenia. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, *11*(11), 1575–1582.
- Röder, C. H., Dieleman, S., van der Veen, F. M., & Linden, D. (2013). Systematic Review of the Influence of Antipsychotics on the Blood Oxygenation Level-Dependent Signal of Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 20(3), 448–461.
- Sawaguchi, T., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1994). The role of D1-dopamine receptor in working memory: local injections of dopamine antagonists into the prefrontal cortex of rhesus monkeys performing an oculomotor delayed-response task. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 71(2), 515–528.
- Sawaguchi, T., & Goldman-Rakic, P. (1991). D1 Dopamine Receptors in Prefrontal Cortex: Involvement in Working Memory. *Science*, *251*(4996), 947–950.
- Sawaguchi, T., Matsumura, M., & Kubota, K. (1988). Dopamine enhances the neuronal activity of spatial short-term memory task in the primate prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience Research*, *5*(5), 465–473.

- Schlagenhauf, F., Wüstenberg, T., Schmack, K., Dinges, M., Wrase, J., Koslowski, M., ... Heinz, A. (2008). Switching schizophrenia patients from typical neuroleptics to olanzapine: effects on BOLD response during attention and working memory. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 18(8), 589–599.
- Schultz, S. K., & Andreasen, N. C. (1999). Schizophrenia. *Lancet*, 353(9162), 1425–1430.
- Seamans, J. K., Gorelova, N., Durstewitz, D., & Yang, C. R. (2001). Bidirectional Dopamine Modulation of GABAergic Inhibition in Prefrontal Cortical Pyramidal Neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *21*(10), 3628–3638.
- Seamans, J. K., & Yang, C. R. (2004). The principal features and mechanisms of dopamine modulation in the prefrontal cortex. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 74(1), 1–57.
- Seeman, P., Lee, T., Chau-Wong, M., & Wong, K. (1976). Antipsychotic drugs doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. *Nature*, 261(5552), 717–719.
- Seeman, P. (2002). Atypical Antipsychotics: Mechanism of Action. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 47(1), 27–38.
- Sekihara, K., Sahani, M., & Nagarajan, S. S. (2005). Localization bias and spatial resolution of adaptive and non-adaptive spatial filters for MEG source reconstruction. *NeuroImage*, 25(4), 1056–1067.
- Selemon, L. D., & Zecevic, N. (2015). Schizophrenia: a tale of two critical periods for prefrontal cortical development. *Translational Psychiatry*, *5*(8), e623.
- Selemon, L. D., Rajkowska, G., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1995). Abnormally High Neuronal Density in the Schizophrenic Cortex: A Morphometric Analysis of Prefrontal Area 9 and Occipital Area 17. Archives of General Psychiatry, 52(10), 805–818.
- Sherman, M. A., Lee, S., Law, R., Haegens, S., Thorn, C. A., Hämäläinen, M. S., ... Jones, S. R. (2016). Neural mechanisms of transient neocortical beta rhythms: Converging evidence from humans, computational modeling, monkeys, and mice. *PNAS*, 113(33), E4885–E4894.
- Siegel, M., Donner, T. H., & Engel, A. K. (2012). Spectral fingerprints of large-scale neuronal interactions. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience*, *13*(2), *121–134*.
- Singer, W., & Gray, C. (1995). Visual feature integration and the temporal correlation hypothesis. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *18*, 555–586.

- Singh, K. D., Barnes, G. R., Hillebrand, A., Forde, E. M. E., & Williams, A. L. (2002). Task-Related Changes in Cortical Synchronization Are Spatially Coincident with the Hemodynamic Response. *NeuroImage*, 16(1), 103–114.
- Slifstein, M., van de Giessen, E., Van Snellenberg, J., Thompson, J. L., Narendran, R., Gil, R., ... Abi-Dargham, A. (2015). Deficits in Prefrontal Cortical and Extrastriatal Dopamine Release in Schizophrenia. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 10032, 1–9.
- Smith, E. E. (1969). Short-term memory impairment in chronic schizophrenics. *Canadian Journal of Psychology*, *23*(2), 114–126.
- Snyder, S. H., Banerjee, S. P., Yamamura, H. I., & Greenberg, D. (1974). Drugs, Neurotransmitters, and Schizophrenia. *Science*, *184*(4143), 1243–1253.
- Sokoloff, P., & Schwartz, J. C. (1995). Novel dopamine receptors half a decade later. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, *16*(8), 270–275.
- Spitzer, B., Gloel, M., Schmidt, T. T., & Blankenburg, F. (2014). Working Memory Coding of Analog Stimulus Properties in the Human Prefrontal Cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(8), 2229–2236.
- Stancák, A., & Pfurtscheller, G. (1995). Desynchronization and recovery of beta rhythms during brisk and slow self-paced finger movements in man. *Neuroscience Letters*, 196(1–2), 21–24.
- Stefansson, H., Sigurdsson, E., Steinthorsdottir, V., Bjornsdottir, S., Sigmundsson, T., Ghosh, S., ... Stefansson, K. (2002). Neuregulin 1 and Susceptibility to Schizophrenia. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 71(4), 877–892.
- Stephane, M., Ince, N. F., Leuthold, A., Pellizzer, G., Tewfik, A. H., Surerus, C., ...
 McClannahan, K. (2008). Temporospatial Characterization of Brain
 Oscillations (TSCBO) Associated with Subprocesses of Verbal Working
 Memory in Schizophrenia. *Clinical EEG and Neuroscience*, 39(4), 194–202.
- Stevenson, C. M., Brookes, M. J., & Morris, P. G. (2011). β-Band Correlates of the fMRI BOLD Response. *Human Brain Mapping*, *32*, 182–197.
- Tallon-Baudry, C., Bertrand, O., Peronnet, F., & Pernier, J. (1998). Induced Gamma-Band Activity during the Delay of a Visual Short-Term Memory Task in Humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *18*(11), 4244–4254.
- Tanaka, S. (2006). Dopaminergic control of working memory and its relevance to schizophrenia: A circuit dynamics perspective. *Neuroscience*, *139*(1), 153–171.

- Tao, R., Li, C., Newburn, E. N., Ye, T., Lipska, B. K., Herman, M. M., ... Hyde, T. M. (2012). Transcript-Specific Associations of SLC12A5 (KCC2) in Human Prefrontal Cortex with Development, Schizophrenia, and Affective Disorders. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(15), 5216–5222.
- Trantham-Davidson, H., Neely, L. C., Lavin, A., & Seamans, J. K. (2004). Mechanisms underlying differential D1 versus D2 dopamine receptor regulation of inhibition in prefrontal cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(47), 10652–10659.
- Uhlhaas, P. J., & Singer, W. (2010). Abnormal neural oscillations and synchrony in schizophrenia. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience*, *11*(2), 100–113.
- van Oel, C. J., Sitskoorn, M. M., Cremer, M. P. M., & Kahn, R. S. (2002). School Performance as a Premorbid Marker for Schizophrenia: A Twin Study. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 28(3), 401–414.
- Vijayraghavan, S., Wang, M., Birnbaum, S. G., Williams, G. V, & Arnsten, A. F. T. (2007). Inverted-U dopamine D1 receptor actions on prefrontal neurons engaged in working memory. *Nature Neuroscience*, 10(3), 376–384.
- Vincent, S. L., Khan, Y., & Benes, F. M. (1995). Cellular Colocalization of Dopamine D1 and D2 Receptors in Rat Medial Prefrontal Cortex. *Synapse*, 19(2), 112–120.
- von Stein, A., & Sarnthein, J. (2000). Different frequencies for different scales of cortical integration: from local gamma to long range alpha/theta synchronization. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, *38*(3), 301–313.
- Vrba, J., & Robinson, S. E. (2001). Signal Processing in Magnetoencephalography. *Methods*, 25(2), 249–271.
- Wagner, G., De la Cruz, F., Schachtzabel, C., Güllmar, D., Schultz, C. C., Schlösser, R. G., ... Koch, K. (2015). Structural and functional dysconnectivity of the fronto-thalamic system in schizophrenia: A DCM-DTI study. *Cortex*, 6(66), 35–45.
- Wallwork, R. S., Fortgang, R., Hashimoto, R., Weinberger, D. R., & Dickinson, D. (2012). Searching for a consensus five-factor model of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale for schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 137(1-3), 246-250.
- Wang, M., Vijarayaghavan, S., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (2004). Selective D2 Receptor Actions on the Functional Circuitry of Working Memory. *Science*, 303(5659), 853–856.

- Weinberger, D., Egan, M., Bertolino, A., Callicott, J., Mattay, V., Lipska, B., ... Goldberg, T. (2001). Prefrontal Neurons and the Genetics of Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 11(1), 825–844.
- Weinstein, J. J., Chohan, M. O., Slifstein, M., Kegeles, L. S., Moore, H., & Abi-Dargham, A. (2017). Pathway-Specific Dopamine Abnormalities in Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 81(1), 31–42.
- Williams, G. V., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1995). Modulation of memory fields by dopamine D1 receptors in prefrontal cortex. *Nature*, *376*(6541), *572–575*.
- Williams, S. M., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1998). Widespread Origin of the Primate Mesofrontal Dopamine System. *Cerebral Cortex*, 8(4), 321–345.
- Winterer, G., Egan, M. F., Kolachana, B. S., Goldberg, T. E., Coppola, R., & Weinberger, D. R. (2006). Prefrontal Electrophysiologic "Noise" and Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Genotype in Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 60(6), 578–584.
- Winterer, G., Musso, F., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., Konrad, A., Seker, B., ...
 Weinberger, D. R. (2006). COMT genotype predicts BOLD signal and noise characteristics in prefrontal circuits. *NeuroImage*, 32(4), 1722–1732.
- Winterer, G., & Weinberger, D. R. (2004). Genes, dopamine and cortical signal-tonoise ratio in schizophrenia. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 27(11), 683–690.
- Woodberry, K. A., Giuliano, A. J., & Seidman, L. J. (2008). Premorbid IQ in Schizophrenia: A Meta-Analytic Review. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *165*(5), 579–587.
- Yao, J., Ding, M., Xing, J., Xuan, J., Pang, H., Pan, Y., & Wang, B. (2014). Genetic association between the dopamine D1-receptor gene and paranoid schizophrenia in a northern Han Chinese population. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 10, 645–652.
- Zhang, C., Fang, Y., Xie, B., Cheng, W., Du, Y., Wang, D., & Yu, S. (2010). No genetic association between dopamine D1 receptor gene and [early onset] schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research*, 177(3), 350–353.
- Zhang, C., Wu, Z., Shao, Y., Li, Z., Yu, S., & Fang, Y. (2011). Association analysis between dopamine D1 receptor gene and symptom quantitative trait of schizophrenia. *Chinese Medical Journal*, 91(29), 2019–2022.

- Zhang, Y., Bertolino, A., Fazio, L., Blasi, G., Rampino, A., Romano, R., ... Sadee, W. (2007). Polymorphisms in human dopamine D2 receptor gene affect gene expression, splicing, and neuronal activity during working memory. *PNAS*, 104(51), 20552–20557.
- Zhu, F., Yan, C., Wang, Q., Zhu, Y., Zhao, Y., Huang, J., ... Li, S. (2011). An association study between dopamine D1 receptor gene polymorphisms and the risk of schizophrenia. *Brain Research*, *1420*, 106–113.
- MATLAB and Statistics Toolbox Release 2015a. (2015). Natick, Massachusetts, United States: The MathWorks Inc.